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Financial Highlights

(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

Year Ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
Revenues $1,015,464 $1,007,968 $ 935,971
Operating Income $ 154,400 $ 151,949 $ 151,419
Net Income $ 92,402 $ 89,984 $ 87,076
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 1.40 $ 1.30 $ 1.26
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities $ 138,096 $ 126,655 $ 102,876
Capital Expenditures $ 43,955 $ 48,961 $ 49,349
Total Assets $ 785,047 $ 702,141 $ 736,203
Long-Term Debt $ 222,399 $ 214,200 $ 230,000
Total Shareholders’ Equity $ 261,139 $ 198,443 $ 211,865
See Notes to Consolidated Financial Staterents for further information.
Total Revenues
(In millions)
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Dear Shareholders:

With operating centers located on four continents, Certegy
serves customers in over 25 countries, processing payment
transactions in seven languages and 15 currencies. In 2003, we
serviced over 46 million cards, posted 1.3 billion card transactions
representing $100 billion in purchase volume, and authorized
$35 billion in paper and electronic checks. Our leadership
positions in high growth markets around the world are tied to
an unwavering commitment to our customers to provide the
most comprehensive products and services possible, enabling
them to compete in an increasingly challenging marketplace.

Operating Highlights

Over the past four decades, we have demonstrated a solid
track record of growth and financial stability. In 2003, strong
card transaction growth, improving trends in consumer spending,
new customer signings, and increased operating efficiencies drove
solid results. Total revenue exceeded $1.0 billion, net income grew
to $92.4 million and diluted earnings per share increased to $1.40.
Cash flow from operations, which is an excellent indicator of
earnings quality, increased to $138.1 million.

In 2003, we took several actions to enhance shareholder
value. in October we paid our first quarterly dividend, and
throughout the ysar we repurchased approximately $74 million
of our common stock. Additionally, we took advantage of low
interest rates by issuing $200 million fixed-rate notes to replace
our variable rate debt. These actions and others should produce
tangible future benefits to our shareholders and our Company.

Qur North American card operation delivered another year of
strong performance. Revenue grew 12.3%, which exceeded the
industry average, fueled by an 18.8% increase in debit transac-
tions and robust sales of new products and services. In the
fourth quarter, we extended our contracts with two of the nation’s

Lee A. Kennedy

Chairman, President and

Chief Executive Officer

leading trade associations, the Independent Community Bankers
of America (ICBA) and Card Services for Credit Unions (CSCU).
With an eye towards the future, we invested in an industry-leading
debit card processing platform, which will improve our service
quality and add new product functionality. The new debit card
system will become fully operational in mid-2004.

In March of 2004, we acquired Crittson Financial LLC, which
increased our U.S. market share. The acquisition adds 275 new
card issuing customers, over 450,000 new cards and provides us
with an opportunity to cross sell additional preducts and services.

The international card processing market represents significant

future growth potential. In June, we expanded our presence in the

fast-growing Asia Pacific card marketplace with the signing of an
eight-year agreement with Krungthai Card Public Company (KTC)
in Thailand. KTC’s bankcards and consumer [oan accounts will
be processed in our Australian operating center, demonstrating
our ability to support multi-national clients from a centralized
processing facility. ‘

Our Check Services sales force achieved excellent results
in 2003, generating over $50 million in new annualized revenue
for the third consecutive year. New account wins included the
following prestigious national retailers:
+» Belk Department Stores
« Dick's Sporting Goods
 Knight Ridder » The Home Depot
» Pep Boys « Wal-Mart

We also made substantial progress in strengthening our third-

« Safeway Stores
» Shop at Home Network

party regional sales network through new alliances with National
Processing Company and Visa POS. International sales were also
strong. Major signings included Jewson's and Total Fina in the
United Kingdom; Marionnaud, Naf Naf and Benetton in France;
and Godfrey's and Kleen Heat in Australia.
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2. Certegy

In 2003, we ir}nplemented a series of initiatives to improve
the reliability and loperating efficiencies of our core transaction
processing systems. In March, we expanded our technology
services agreemént with IBM to include our U.S. operations.
The innovative agreement permits the delivery of services
"on-demand,” wiiich enables us to leverage data processing
resources across worldwide geographies. It will generate
significant cost savings for Certegy.

Focusing on tHe Customer

Our customers are facing increasing challenges from nen-
traditional sources and rapidly changing technologies. They
rely on Certegy tch provide them with competitive products and
services to enabl;e them to compete. Their success is directly
tied to our success.

Our card proguct and service offerings have evolved over
the years to meqt the changing needs of our customers. Debit
and credit card loyalty programs, consumer loan processing,
e-banking, and e;lectronic bill payment are among the new
products avallable to our customer base.

Qur retail chéck customers also face new challenges, as
fraudulent check}activity in the United States and international
markets continués to escalate. In 2003, the number of reported
fraud and identitJf theft complaints in the U.S. alone increased
by 28%. Fraudulént checks account for a significant portion of
overall fraud, making it increasingly more challenging for retailers
to control the co%st of check acceptance. As a result, more
and more of the hation’s leading retallers are turning to Certegy
to reduce the ris% of point-of-sale check acceptance. As the
pioneer in providing check risk management services, Certegy
has developed a\(highly sophisticated and advanced retail check
risk managemenjt system. This technology enables us to
approve a higheri percentage of check transactions, resulting
in increased sales for our customers and a better purchase
experience for consumers.

We continueito focus on developing new applications for
check risk management services and are particularly pleased
with our progres$ in the check cashing industry. We currently
support over 6,0b0 check cashing outlets located in grocery,
convenience storf'e, and gaming establishments nationwide.
We believe that c:heck cashing represents a significant growth
opportunity for our Company as more and more national
retailers provide in-store financial service offerings.

Our March 2b04 acquisition of Game Financial positions
us as a leading s;r‘ngle source provider of comprehensive cash
access services :to casinos throughout the United States.

Our gaming product offering now includes check cashing,
cash advances, and ATM cash disbursement.

Recent federal legislation governing electronic check
settlement (Check 21) has also created new opportunities
for our Company. In 2003, we launched several new products
to assist retailers with check truncation, authorization, and
settlement. We believe that electronic check settiement will
increase demand for risk management services.

Building on a Solid Foundation

There is no substitute for sound business practices and
uncompromised integrity when it comes to running a successful
business and building a solid foundation for the future. We
remain committed to complete, accurate, and timely financial
disclosure. In September, we created a new senior-level position
reporting directly to our executive team and Board of Directors
to ensure that the operational and compliance risks associated
with our businesses are minimized. We also strengthened our
corporate charters, code of business ethics, and governance
guidelines, and made them available to our employees and
shareholders through our website. Strong corporate gover-
nance will remain a top priority for our Board of Directors and
management team.

We are very pleased to have been named to the Forbes
Magazine list of the “400 Best Big Companies in America,”
ranking #137 for total shareholder return. In addition to stock
price performance, companies were rated on accounting
and corporate governance, financial condition and quality
of earnings. Certegy received the highest possible score in
each of these categories.

In 2004, we will remain focused on further leveraging
our customer and vendor relationships, expanding our global
presence, entering new vertical markets, and aggressively
pursuing new sales alliances. We are confident that our strong
financial condition, proven business model, and seasoned
leadership team will generate enhanced shareholder value.

| want to extend my sincere thanks and appreciation to
our loyal customers, employees, committed Board of Directors,
and shareholders for your strong, ongoing support.

Sincersly,
5

Lee A. Kennedy
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




Never before have consumers in the U.S. and around the world
been offered as many payment choices for purchasing products and services
as they are today. Ih the retail and financial industries - Certegy’s primary

R markets -~ competition for consumers is fierce. Retailers and financial

institutions must implement the highest quality and most efficient systems
and services to compete and profitably grow their businesses.

Outsourcing is a means to this end. From community banks and
credit unions seeking end-to-end card processing solutions, to international

card issuers that must respond quickly and cost effectively to counter

increased global competition, to retailers seeking to better manage payment
risk, Certegy is the outsourcing partner of choice. With operating centers

located on four continents, Certegy serves card issuing customers in over

25 countries. The Company has also developed a highly sophisticated and
accurate artificial intelligence system to combat check fraud. Certegy delivers
end-to-end solutions, value, and speed to customers around the world -~

without compromise.
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4. Certegy
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What advantages does Certegy provide to
financial institutions that are considering
outsourcing their cardholder services?

Certegy's commitment to providing high quality
customer service and our proven track record
address a financial institution's major concern
about outsourcing - that there be no compro-
mises when it comes to servicing and caring for
cardholders. The Certegy culture was built on our
longstanding relationship with community banks
and credit unions where attention to customer
service is paramount. We operate under the
premise that customers of these card issuers
are also customers of Certegy. Certegy works
with each of our financial institution customers -
large and small — to develop programs suited to
their unigue needs. That may mean helping a

small institution more effectively market credit
and debit cards. Larger international institutions
outside the U.S. may seek outsourcing as a
means to better manage a rapidly changing
competitive environment. As these institutions
face increased competition and as they seek
to expand into new markets, Certegy is best
positioned to help them reach their goals

more quickly.

What do Certegy’s check risk management
services offer to retailers?

As thieves get better at disguising themselves as
honest check writers, retailers face an increasingly
complicated challenge of controlling losses
without compromising sales. Merchants select a
risk management partner to gain protection from
fraudulent transactions, and they want an efficient




A team of systems analysts measures )
the operating performance of Certegy’s ™
global telecommunications network.

point-of-sale process so that customer lines move
smoothly. Perhaps most importantly, they want to
make sure that good check writers aren't declined
- which can forever alienate a valued customer.
With our highly sophisticated artificial intelligence
tools, Certegy manages risk and allows our
retailers to focus on what they do best - serving
the needs of their customers in a manner that
creates goodwill.

How is Certegy responding to changes in
the marketplace?

Certegy takes a proactive approach, working

in partnership with our customers to meet

their changing needs. Our comprehensive card
service offering includes processing for Visa and
MasterCard debit and credit, private label, stored
value, and American Express cards. Card loyalty

[

A print technician performs a
quality check during the statement
production process.

programs, e-banking services, consumer loan
processing, and other products and services
round out Certegy’s full-service offering to
financial institutions, Convenience and product
innovation are key factors in helping our retail
check customers increase sales and develop
new avenues of revenue growth. Certegy’s
PayNet platform enables consumers to use
checks to pay for goods purchased online or by
telephone without touching pen to paper. Another
new product — payroll check cashing - is in high
demand in a variety of sectors including grocery,
gaming, and discount retailers. We also assist
merchants who opt to settle check transactions
electronically, and believe that recently enacted
federal legislation (Check 21) will create even
more opportunities for cur Company.
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‘without compromise

‘Certegy protects retailers from fraud
with the industry’s most advanced check]}
riskfmanagement systems ~ delivered :
A with high-quality reliability and fid

Is Certegy’s value to card issuers driven
by price?

When a card issuer makes a decision to out-
source its processing to a third party, pricing

is not the primary issue (even though they can
achieve substantial savings through Certegy’s
economies of scale), The decision is more often
based on quality of service, feature functionality,
and reliability. We create customer loyalty by
delivering what we promise and add value by
enhancing our customers’ long-term profitability
and overall performance. We provide the products
that financial institutions need to keep them
competitive in their respective markets, and we
do this exceptionally well — without compromise.

What value does Certegy offer in the fight
against the growing crime of fraud?

Retailers recognize that checks are a significant
payment method, and that striking the most
profitable balance between high acceptance

and low losses requires expert decisioning at

the point of sale, bolstered by real-time data and
dedicated risk analysts. By listening to our clients
and assessing all pertinent business and industry
trends, we constantly adapt our risk management
systems to the changing market dynamics, putting
our proprietary artificial intelligence and fraud
modeling technology to work for our customers.




<

Certegy's e-banking service
provides customers with access
to complete account information,
all from a single screen.

How does Certegy combat organized
fraud rings?

Fraud rings have become expert in disguising
dishonest check transactions as normal pur-
chases. This is a fact that forces risk management
providers to constantly improve their systems.
At Certegy, risk management has evolved
from linear-based decisioning to models based
on artfficial intelligence, to a system of fraud
maodeling that creates new, dynamic models
every day. In concert with current systems, we
have created an extensive consumer library,
which is the most exciting risk management

tool yet. These models analyze fraud based

on dozens of decision points including product
code information, time of day, and store location.
Certegy’s footprint with national retailers provides
critical real-time sales data as fuel for our risk
management system and helps to detect unusual
spending patterns, such as purchases of high-risk
merchandise (goods that can later be illegally
resold) at different locations within a given time
period. In-house systems are inherently less
sophisticated and cannot benefit from real-time
data capture of fraud activity across retailers

and vertical industries.
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8. Certegy

Why is speed important to Certegy’s
customers?

It’s all about delivering excellent service and
helping customers remain competitive in the
marketplace. Speed matters to our customers

in many ways: from moving customers through
check-out lanes without delay, to identifying fraud
quickKly, to ralling out new products and services
efficiently. Working with our customers to pro-
vide timely solutions and responses to inquiries

is another critical component of our relationship
with clients.

Is speed as important in international
markets as it is in the U.S.?

Speed is crucial for large regional and multi-national
banks in international markets that are using clder
technology. When a global competitor moves in,
these institutions must respond quickly to avoid
losing market share. Speed is also a factor for
institutions wanting to modify or change their
product offering or expand into new geographies.
Certegy's advanced BASE2000™ platform, which
was designed from client input, delivers high
levels of customization and speed to market.
Certegy can convert an institution’s entire card



portfolio in six to twelve months, a critical factor in
minimizing the potential impact on the institution’s
operation. Product modifications, such as lowering
the annual rate or extending a grace period, can
be implemented almost immediately.

Does Certegy’s speed compromise other
important qualities of the service?

No. Speed in processing transactions is a by-
product of quality and accuracy. Certegy strikes
the right balance, for example, between catching
fraudulent check writers, approving good checks
and keeping customer lines moving in a fast-
paced world. With our sophisticated artificial

4

Certegy ensures that transactions
are processed quickly and accurately
at the point of sale.

intelligence tools, we can analyze all relevant
data within one-third of a second and make

a decision to accept or decline a check. For
reliability, Certegy operates redundant systems,
and the network is robust encugh to handle
twice the record amount of transactions on any
given day. Our leading-edge technology gives
our customers a competitive advantage by
providing speed and accuracy in processing —
without compromise.
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Certegy’s reach spans the_ lobe =fro , ‘
North America to the Asia Pacific B

How is Certegy planning to grow?

Certegy’s philoscphy is to build on our core
competencies so that expansion does not
compromise the Company’s mission and long-
term objectives. Organic growth will be enhanced
by deeper penetration within the current customer
base, new product offerings and new markets.
Debit cards and card loyalty programs offer a
significant opportunity to expand our existing
card business. Providing cash access services

to the gaming industry represents a new frontier
for the Company. Acquisitions will be considered
to the extent they expand or complement
Certegy’s core businesses or bring additional
operational expertise.

Where will Certegy’s growth come from?

Markets outside the U.S. offer a significant long-
term growth opportunity for card issuing services.
The promise of internaticnal growth comes from
developing countries in the Asia Pacific region,
which has the potential to generate billions of
dollars in card processing revenue, and countries
in Western Europe, where many card programs
are excellent candidates for outsourcing due

to fresh competition from sophisticated multi-
national issuers. Growth rates in these markets
are nearly double the rates in the U.S. Many
issuers are at a crossroads, wanting to expand,
coping with profit pressures and trying to protect
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their customer base. More and more institutions
are considering outsourcing as a means to
modernize their card programs, reduce processing
costs, and maintain their competitive position.
They need additional product capability — such
as smartcard technology — which is expensive to
develop in-house. This is where Certegy comes
in. With our broad global reach, experience in
international markets and world-class BASE2000™
processing platform, we enable card issuers to
expand their product offerings and operate their
card programs more profitably, without having to
make significant investments in new technology.

The signing of new customers
such as Krungthai Card Public
Company highlights Certegy’s
growing presence in the Asia
Pacific region.

Are there any new markets on the horizon
for Certegy?

We recently expanded our presence in the Asia
Pacific region with an agreement to process credit
cards and unsecured personal loans for Krungthai
Card Public Company (KTC) in Thailand. We

will service KTC's bankcard and consumer loan
accounts from our processing center in Australia,
illustrating our ability to support numerous card
institutions and programs across different conti-
nents and time zones from a single processing
facility. Certegy is also in the process of expanding
into new vertical markets and industries, such as
check cashing and gaming, which present sizable
growth opportunities.
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12. Certegy

Card Services Business Overview

Card Services provides a full range of end-tc-end processing
salutions for community banks, credit unions and multi-national financial
inétitutions. Nearly 7,000 financial institutions and card issuers have selected
Certegy for card transaction processing and support. Certegy provides card
processing for over 46 million cards through full-service centers in high-
grth regions throughout the world.

Certegy’s card solutions rank among the most comprehensive in the
in(ijustry. From PC-based turnkey solutions originally developed for community
banks and credit unions to BASE2000™, which is one of the most powerful,
flexible mainframe solutions in the industry, Certegy offers its customers the
ab}ility to outsource with confidence. The full range of services can be bundled

oriunbundled to suit the needs of any size institution.




Card Revenues
(In millions)
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Market Position and Scope

We are a leading global provider
of card processing services.

With full-service processing
centers in five countries, we serve
customers in the United States,
the United Kingdom, ireland,
Brazil, Chile, the Dominican
Republic, Australia, New Zealand
and Thailand.

Customer Base

Community Banks

Credit Unions

Private Label Issuers

Multi-national Banks

Retailers

Products and Services

Credit Card Processing

Debit Card Processing
Stored Value Card Processing
Portiolic Development
Application Processing
Payment Processing

Internet Banking

Electronic Bill Payment
Cardholder Customer Service
Card Loyalty Programs

Card Marketing

Fraud Management
Merchant Processing
Personal Loan Processing
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14. Certegy

Check Services Business Overview

|
T
i

Certegy Check Services picneered the check risk management industry

with the development of the first online risk management technology. Certegy

conftinues to lead the industry with our highly advanced and predictive artificial

intejlligence based risk management systems. This proprietary technology is

coﬁtinuously upgraded to combat increasingly sophisticated fraud.

| Certegy provides risk management services to approximately 330,000
i

retqll locations in seven countries, and authorized more than $35 billion in trans-

actions in 2003. Over 30 of the top 50 U.S. retailers are Certegy customers.

i
This large national footprint, which spans numerous industries and geographies,

provides Certegy’s risk analysts with access to real-time information, which is

critical in the timely and accurate detection of fraudulent activity.




Check Revenues
(In millions)

Check Volumes
(In billions)
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Market Position and Scope

We are a leading global provider
of risk management solutions,
serving customers in Australia,
Canada, France, Ireland, New
Zealand, the United Kingdom,
and the United States.

Customer Base

Apparel
Automotive

Building/Home Improvement

Consumer Electronics
Discount Stores
Gaming

Home Furnishings
Internet

Supermarket Chains
Telecommunications

Products and Services

Check Guarantee
Check Verification

Cash Access:
¢ Check Cashing
¢ Cash Advance

¢ ATM Cash Disbursement
Electronic Check Acceptance

Risk Consuiting
Check Collections
Loss Prevention
Software Solutions

2003 Annual Report
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Principal Offices

United States of America
Corpjorate Headguarters
11720 Amber Park Drive
Suite 600

Alpharetta, Georgia 30004
678-867-8000

Othér USA Locations

1 16d1 Roosevelt Boulevard
St. Pitersburg, Florida 33716
800-215-6280

185d Deming Way
Middleton, Wisconsin 53562
800-238-2827

370 N. 2200 W.

Building D

Salt Lake City, Utah 84116
800-857-6366

Australia

Level 28

570 $ourke Street
Melbbume

VIC 3000
Austrialia
61-318615-1100

Level 1

97 Pfrie Street
Adelaide

SA 5000
Australia
61-8:8232-2828

Brazil

Av. Maria Coelho Aguiar,
215 Bloco D-4 Andar
Sao Paulo

05804-900

Brazil
55-11-3741-5904

Rua do Rosario 209/213
Jundiai, Sao Paulo
13201-014

Brazil

55-11-4523-3600

Nova Lima

Rua da Paisagem 220
Bairro Vila Sera

Minas Gerais Nova Lima
34000-000

Brazil

55-31-3589-7000

Chile

Marchant Pereira 10, Pisc 19
Santiago

6640721

Chile

56-2-230-1600

France

Tour Frankiin

La Defense 8
Paris La Defense
Cedex 92042
France
33-1-41-02-85-60

New Zealand
Tower I, Level 16
209 Queen Street
Auckland

New Zealand
64-9-300-3051

United Kingdom
Equipoint
Coventry Road
Yardley
Birmingham

B25 8FE

United Kingdom
44-121-702-4700

Tricorn House
51-53 Hagley Road
Edgbaston,
Birmingham

B16 8TU

United Kingdom
44-121-410-4100
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Selected IT'inanciaI Data

(dollars in thousands, except per share data)
|

Year Ended December 31 } 2003 2002M 2001 2000 1999
Results of Operatiéns:
Revenues ‘ $1,015464 31,007,968 $ 935971 $ 865907 § 763,297
Operating expenses‘%)@ 861,064 856,019 784,552 718,748 635,812
Operating income ( 154,400 151,949 151,419 147,159 127,485
Other income, net | 2,339 1,119 78 1,309 2,311
Interest expense | (7,950) (7,120) (7,200} (1,301) (901)
Income before inconiﬂe taxes, minority interests,

and cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle 148,789 145,948 144,297 147 167 128,895
Provision for income| taxes (55,052) (55,964) (56,276) (57,609) (54,272)
Minority interests in earnings, net of tax —_ — (945) (1,0986) 6
Income before cumu;lative effect of a change in

accounting princiqle 93,737 89,984 87,076 88,462 74,629
Cumuiative effect of la change in accounting principle,

net of $832 income tax benefit {1,335) — — — —
Net income f $ 92402 3$ 89984 $ 87,076 $ 88462 $ 74,629

. . |
Basic earnings per share®:

Income before cumulative effect of a change
in accounting principle 144 $ 1.32 127  $ 132 8 1.09
Net income ‘J $ 142 3 132  § 127  § 132 § 1.09
Diluted earnings peri share®®:

Income before cumulative effect of a change

-
©*r

in accounting p;rinciple $ 142 ¢ 130 $ 126 3 130 § 1.07
Net income ‘ $ 140 $ 1.30 $ 126  § 130 § 1.07
Cash dividends declared per common share $ 010 § — 3 — % — —

Balance Sheet Data:

Total assets | $ 785,047 $ 702,141 $ 736,203 $ 523,040 $ 516,567
Long-term debt | $ 222399 $ 214200 § 230,000 $ —~ 3 —
Total shareholders’ équity $ 261,139 $ 198,443 $ 211,865 $ 323618 $ 271,490

i
(1) Our financial results fc‘)r the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 include other charges of $12.2 mifiion (87.7 million after-taxj in both years.

(2) General corporate expense was $18.5 million, $19.3 miflion, $11.9 million, $7.8 million, and $7.3 miliion, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2003,
2002, 2001, 2000, and 1999. We estimate our general corporate expense would have increased by approximately $6.5 million annually for periods prior to
our spin-off from Equifax in July 2001 had we been operating on a full year stand-alone basis.

(3} We adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” effective January 1, 2002, which ceased the amortization of goodwill.

{4} Prior to our spin-off, A‘wasic wefghted-average shares outstanding /s computed by applying the distribution ratio of one share of Certegy common stock
for every two shares of Equifax common stock held to the historical Equifax weighted-average shares outstanding for the same periods presented.

(5) Prior to our spin-off, c}liluted weighted-average shares outstanding is estimated based on the dilutive effect of stock options calculated in the third
quarter of 2001. ‘

|
|
|
\
|
|
\
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OVERVIEW

We provide credit and debit card processing and check risk
management services to financial institutions and merchants in the
U.S. and internationally through two segments, Card Services and
Check Services. Card Services provides card issuing services in
the U.S., the U.K,, Brazil, Chile, Australia, New Zealand, Ireland,
Thailand, and the Dominican Republic. Additionally, Card Services
provides merchant processing and e-banking services in the U.S.
and card issuing software, support, and consulting services in
numerous countries. Check Services provides check risk manage-
ment services and related processing services in the U.S,, the
U.K., Canada, France, Ireland, Australia, and New Zealand.

Card Services. Card Services provides a full range of card issuer
services that enable banks, credit unions, retailers, and others to
issue VISA and MasterCard credit and debit cards, private label
cards, and other electronic payment cards for use by both
consumer and business accounts. Additionally, we began
processing American Express cards for a Dominican Republic
bank in January 2003, which is serviced from our St. Petersburg,
Florida, processing center. Our debit card services support both
off-line debit cards, which are processed similarly to credit cards,
and on-line debit cards, through which cardholders obtain
immediate access to funds in their bank accounts through

ATMs or merchant point-of-sale terminals. In the U.S., our card
processing business is concentrated in the independent commu-
nity bank and credit union segments of the market, while
internationally, we service both large and small financial institu-
tions. We provide our card issuer services internationally through
our operations in the U.S., Brazil, Chile, the U.K., and Australia.
Our merchant processing services enable retailers and other
businesses to accept credit, debit, and other electronic payment
cards from purchasers of their goods and services, while our
e-banking services enable financial institutions to offer Internet
banking and related products to consumers and businesses.
Card issuing software, support, and consulting services allow
customers to manage their credit card programs.

Card transactions continue to increase as a percentage of

total point-of-sale payments, which fuels continuing demand for
card-refated products. We continue to launch new products aimed
at serving this demand. In recent years, we have introduced a
variety of stored-value card types, Internet banking, and electronic

"‘Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations

bill presentment/payment products, as well as a number of card
enhancement and loyalty/reward programs. The common theme
among these offerings continues to be convenience and security
for the consumer coupled with value to the financial institution.
Over the past six years, we pursued growth in international
markets through acquisitions in Brazil and Chile and the start-up
of our card processing operations in the U.K. and Australia. In
2000, we entered into a five-year agreement with a multi-national
Australian-based financial institution to process cards issued

in Australia, New Zealand, the U.K., and Ireland, with operations
commencing in the second quarter of 2001. This financial
institution is serviced from our card processing operation in
Australia, as well as from our card processing operation in the
UK. In 2003, we entered into an eight-year agreement with

a Thailand financial institution, whereby it will cutsource the
processing of its VISA and MasterCard credit cards and unse-
cured personal loans. This financial institution is also serviced from
our card processing operation in Australia. Card Services plans

to pursue further card processing opportunities in the Asia Pacific
Region, utilizing our Australian operation as the processing center.

We believe that the increased use of credit, debit, and other
electronic payment cards around the globe will continue to present
the card processing industry with significant growth opportunities.
We intend to continue to expand our card processing business

in the independent community bank and credit union segments
of the market. Moreover, our future growth and profitability

will significantly depend upon our ability to penetrate additional
international markets, including emerging markets for electronic
transaction processing. Qur certification as an American Express
processor also provides further growth opportunifies for us in the
global card market.

Check Services. Check Services provides check risk manage-
ment and related processing products and services to businesses
accepting or cashing checks at the point-of-sale. These services
utilize our proprietary check authorization systems and risk
assessment decision platforms. A significant portion of our
revenues from check risk management services is generated

from several large national and regional merchants, including
national retail chains. Other customers of our Check Services
segment include hotels, automotive dealers, telecommunications
companies, supermarkets, casinos, mail order houses, and other
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businesses. Our serviées allow our clients to run their customers’
personal and businessJ checks through an automated decision-
making process that a§sesses the likelihood that a check wili clear.
We provide our check(risk management products and services
internationally in Canar“da, the U.K., Ireland, France, Australia, and
New Zealand. Qur priﬁcipal product in all these countries is check
guarantee services, although mass retailers are beginning to utilize
our check verification, (collection services, and deferred debit

processing services. |

\
In recent years, we haye introduced several new products for

existing and new marl‘<ets, such as third-party check collections;
electronic check risk rpanagement solutions for point-of-sale,
call center, and e(ectrc%nic commerce applications; and PayCheck
Accept™, which enaldles supermarkets and gaming estaplish-
ments to reduce the risk of check losses and fraud in connection
with their payroll check cashing services.

|

We believe check writ;ing has begun to decline as a total percent-
age of point-of-sale payments due, in part, to the growing use of
debit and credit cards‘. At the same time, however, demand for
our services is strong|due to factors that include increasing
sophistication of check fraud and higher concentration of bad
checks written at the ‘point-of—sale due to a trend of higher credit
quality consumers pa}ying more with credit and debit cards and
writing fewer checks. iThese factors are contributing to a growing
reliance of retailers an;d other businesses on outside vendors,

such as us, to provide check risk management services.

Key Performance Ir:1dicators. Management uses various
key indicators to man‘age its business, including revenue and
operating income gro‘vvth, operating margin, earnings per
share growth, number of cards and accounts on file, and

volumes processed. |

|

Comparability of Financial Results. Our financial resuits for
2003 as compared tgL the prior periods have been adversely
impacted by the IossJof a large customer in our merchant
processing business,} which was acquired and moved its account
{0 its new owner's pr#oessor in the third quarter of 2002, and the
loss of a large customer in our Brazilian card operation, which
deconverted its perifolio at the beginning of March 2003. Although
the loss of a customer in our merchant processing business had a
significant impact onjour revenues during the fourth quarter of
2002 and in 2003, it did not have a significant impact on our
operating income in those same periods. in addition, our financial
results have been ad}versely impacted by slow retail volumes in our

Manajgement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations continued

Check Services segment due to the general economic slowdown
and, in addition, incremental start-up costs relating to our check
cashing services business. We have recently begun to notice an
increase in guarantee volume in our Check Services business, and
we are continuing to experience strong growth in our Card
Services segment, other than in our merchant processing services
and South American card issuer operations. Atthough manage-
ment believes that positive developments such as these will help
to offset the effect of the negative factors mentioned above, there
can be no assurance that those factors will not continue to have
an adverse impact on our financial results.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENTS

$200 Million Note Offering. In September 2003, we completed
our offering of $200 million aggregate principal amount of 4.75
percent senior unsecured notes, which mature in September
2008. The proceeds from this offering were used to pay off the
outstanding indebtedness under our $300 million revolving credit
facility and for general corporate purposes (see Note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements for further information).

Adoption of FIN 46. On December 31, 2003, we adopted certain
provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation
No. 48, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpreta-
tion of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51” (“FIN 46") as required
for the synthetic lease on our St. Petersburg, Florida, facility.

In conjunction with the adoption of FIN 48, we recognized a
cumulative effect of accounting change expense of $1.3 million
after-tax, or $0.02 per diluted share. Additionally, we recorded
property and equipment of $21.0 million, which is net of accumu-
lated depreciation, deferred income tax assets of $0.8 million,
long-term notes payable of $22.4 million, and a minority interest
liability of $0.8 million, which is included in other long-term
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet (see Notes 2 and 6

to the consolidated financial statements for further information).

Share Repurchase Authority. In August 2003, the Board of
Directors increased our remaining share repurchase authority to
$100 million. As of December 31, 2003, we had approximately
$40.1 million remaining autherity for share repurchases.

Dividends. In August 2003, the Board of Directors approved

an initial quarterly common stock dividend of $0.05 per share,

or $3.2 million, which was paid on October 15, 2003 to share-
holders of record as of the close of business on October 1, 20083.
Additionally, in November 2003, the Board of Directors approved




a quarterty common stock dividend of $0.05 per share, or
$3.2 million, which was paid on January 15, 2004 to shareholders
of record as of the close of business on January 1, 2004.

Other Charges in 2003 and 2002. During 2003, we recorded
other charges of $12.2 million {($7.7 million after-tax). These
charges include $8.6 million of early termination costs asscciated
with a U.S. data processing contract, $2.7 million of charges
related to the downsizing of our Brazilian card operation, and
$(0.1) million of markst value recoveries on our collateral assign-
ment in life insurance policies, net of severance charges. In 2002,
we also recorded other charges of $12.2 million ($7.7 million after-
tax). These charges include an impairment write-off of $4.2 million
for the remaining intangible asset value assigned to an acquired
customer contract in our Brazilian card operation, due to the loss
of the customer; a $4.0 million charge for the settlement of a
class action lawsuit, net of insurance proceeds; and $4.0 million
of severance charges and market value losses on our collateral
assignment in life insurance policies (see Note 3 to the consoli-
dated financial statements for further information).

Acquisitions. In May 2001, we acquired the remaining

40.7 percent minority interest in our card processing operation in
Brazil for $55.5 million in cash. We previously held a 59.3 percent
controlling interest in this operation, which we acquired in 1898.
In August 2001, we acqguired Accu Chek, Inc, ("Accu Chek”),

a leading provider of third-party check collection services in the
U.S., for $23.5 million in cash, which is net of $1.5 million of
cash acquired. On December 31, 2002, we acquired the majority
of assets and liabilities of Netzee, Inc. (“Netzee"), a provider of
e-banking services to community banks and credit unions in the
U.S., for $10.4 million in cash. In September 2003, we acquired
a merchant portfolio for $4.5 million in cash.

Spin-Off from Equifax in 2001. On July 7, 2001, our spin-off
from Equifax Inc. ("Equifax”) was completed by consolidating all
of the assets and liabilities of the businesses that comprised
Equifax’'s Payment Services division into Certegy and its subsidiar-
ies and then distributing all of Certegy’s outstanding common
stock to Equifax shareholders (“the Distribution”). For the period
prior to the Distribution, the consolidated financial statements
present our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows
as derived from Equifax’s historical financial statements. Included
in these historical financial statements are certain Equifax
corporate expenses that were allocated to us, utilizing such
factors as revenues, number of employees, and other relevant
factors. We believe these allocations were made on a reasonable
basis; however, we believe that, had we been operating on a

full year stand-alone basis, we would have incurred additional
expenses of approximately $3.2 million in 2001 for the period
prior to the Distribution.

In conjunction with the Distribution, we incurred $275 million

of debt to fund a payment in that amount to Equifax. The historical
financial statements do not include any allocation of Equifax
corporate debt or related interest expense, as historically, these
amounts were not allocated to the operating divisions by Equifax,
We estimate our interest expense would have increased by

$8.4 million in 2001 had Equifax allocated interest expense to

us on $275 million of debt in the period prior to the Distribution.
This interest amount is based on annua! interest at a rate of LIBOR
(London InterBank Offering Rate) plus 100 basis points, which was
our cost of borrowing under the revolving credit facility we utilized
to fund the payment to Equifax.

COMPONENTS OF INCOME STATEMENT

Card Services generates revenues from charges based on
transaction volumes (U.S ), accounts or cards processed
(globally), and fees for various services and products (globally),
while Check Services generates revenues from charges based
on transaction volumes, face value of checks guaranteed,

and fees for various check services and products. Revenues
depend upon a number of factors, such as demand for and

price of our services, the technological competitiveness of

our product line, our reputation for providing timely and reliable
service, competition within our industry, and general economic
conditions. Costs of services consist primarily of the costs of
transaction processing systems; personnel costs to develop

and maintain applications, operate computer networks, and
provide customer support; losses from check guarantee services;
interchange (processing fees paid to credit card associations)
and other fees related to merchant processing; depreciation

and occupancy costs associated with the facilities where these
functions are performed; and reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses.
Selling, general, and administrative expenses consist primarily of
salaries, wages, and related expenses paid to sales, non-revenue
customer support functions, and administrative employees and
management, and pricr to the Distribution, certain allccated
Equifax corporate costs.

As part of our card merchant processing business, we contract
directly with merchants, as well as with merchants' financial
institutions. When we have a direct relationship with a merchant,
revenues collected for our services are based primarily on a
discount rate, which considers the cost of interchange fees.
When our relationship is with a merchant’s financial institution,
we collect the interchange fees in addition to our transaction
fees. In both instances, we are responsible for collecting the
interchange fees after settling with the credit card associations.
Interchange fees are recorded as a component of revenues
and costs of services.
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On January 1, 2002, we adopted Emerging Issues Task Force
Issue No. 01-14, “Income Statement Characterization of Reim-
bursements Received| for ‘Out-of-Pocket’ Expenses Incurred”
(“EITF 01-14"), which requires that reimbursements received for
out-of-pocket expenses be classified as revenues. Historically,
such reimbursements|were netted against costs of services in

the consolidated statements of income. As a result of this required
adoption and certain similar reclassifications, actual revenues, as
previously reported for the year ended December 31, 2001, have
increased by $84.8 milion for reimbursed out-of-pocket expenses
that include postage, fdelivery, telecommunication, and other
costs. These reclassiﬂ:cations have no impact on operating
income or net income.

Also on January 1, 2d02, we adopted Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible
Assets” ("SFAS 1427), which modifies accounting for business
combinations, goodV\)iII, and identifiable intangible assets. As

required by this stand‘ard, the amortization of goodwill ceased
on January 1, 2002, Qur operating results for the year ended

December 31, 2001 include $8.6 million ($7.3 million after-tax,

\
or $0.10 per diluted share) of goodwill amortization expense.

GAAP AND NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Our consolidated finapcial statements for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 have been prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted

in the United States, c{>r GAAPR. Throughout this management’s
discussion and analysis, we discuss certain financial measures

for the year ended De‘cember 31, 2001 on a GAAP and a non-

GAAP basis. The 200‘1 non-GAAP financial results include

adjustments to reflect 1) additional operating and interest
expenses estimated éy management that would have been
incurred in 2001, for the period prior to the Distribution, had

we been operating on: a full year stand-alone basis (see further
discussion of these e“stimated additional expenses under the
heading “Spin-Off frorin Equifax in 2001") and 2) the elimination
of goodwill amortizati:on expense in 2001 as if SFAS 142 had
been effective on Jan{‘uary 1, 2001. Management believes that
presentation of the 2001 financial results with these adjustments
is more meaningful asj it allows investors and management to
evaluate and compare Certegy’s operating results from ongoing
operations from perio‘d to period in a more consistent manner.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations continued

Management uses these non-GAAP results for 2001 in its
management of the business given 1) the results for 2001 would
have been different had we been operating on a stand-alone basis
the entire year and thus, it is necessary for the additional operating
and interest expenses to be included in the results and 2) there is
no goodwill amortization expense in our 2003 and 2002 financial
results and thus, it is more meaningful to exclude this expense in
2001 when comparing financial results with periods subsequent
to the adoption of SFAS 142. Non-GAAP financial measures,
however, should not be considered in isolation or as an alternative
to financial measures calculated and presented in accordance
with GAAP.

A reconciliation of the GAAP to non-GAAP financial results

for the year ended December 31, 2001 is included on page 27
within this management’s discussion and analysis, as well as in the
supplemental non-GAAP financial information included elsewhere
in this report.

Additionally, throughout this management’s discussion and
analysis, we refer to certain financial amounts both on a before-
and after-tax basis. Management believes it is helpful to include
the after-tax effect of certain financial charges to allow investors
and management to evaluate their impact on net income and
diluted earnings per share.

HIGHLIGHTS OF THE 2003 CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL RESULTS

Highlights of the 2008 financial results as compared to 2002,
including other charges in both years, are as follows:

* Revenues grew 0.7 percent to $1.0 billion.
* Operating income of $154.4 million increased 1.6 percent.
o Interest expense totaled $8.0 million versus $7.1 million in 2002,
* Net income, including the cumulative effect of the accounting
change, increased by 2.7 percent to $92.4 million.
» Diluted earnings per share, including the cumulative effect
of the accounting change, of $1.40 increased 7.7 percent.

In 2003, we repurchased 2.6 miliion shares of cur common
stock at a cost of $73.6 million, while capital expenditures
totaled $44.0 million.




CONSOLIDATED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following table summarizes our consolidated resuits for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001:

{In millions, except per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001 Nor?-c(glAPm
Revenues® $ 1,0155 $ 1,008.0 § 9380 $ 9360
Operating expenses $ 861.0 $ 856.0 $ 7846 $ 7792
Operating income $ 1544 $ 151.9 $ 1514 $ 158.7
Other income, net $ 23 $ 1.1 3 01 $ 01
Interest expense $ (8.0) $ 7.1) $ (7.2) $ (15.6)
income before cumulative effect of accounting change® $ 937 3 30.0 3 87.1 $ 87.2
Net income $ 924 $ 900 $ 871 $ 872
Diluted EPS:

Income before cumulative effect of accounting change® $ 142 $ 1.30 $ 1.26 $ 1.26

Net income $ 140 $ 130 $ 1.26 $ 1.26

(1) Includes non-GAAP adjustments in 2001 to reflect 1) the spin-off from Equifax as if it had occurred at the beginning of 2001 and 2} the elimination of
goodwill amortization as if SFAS 142 had been effective on January 1, 2001. Page 27 of this management’s discussion and analysis and the supplemental
non-GAAR financial information included elsewhere in this report provide a detailed reconcifiation of GAAP to non-GAAP financial results for the year ended

December 31, 2001.

(2) On January 1, 2002, we adopted EITF No. 01-14, as further described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, which required reimbursements
received for out-of-pocket expenses to be reclassified from operating expenses to revenues. Amounts for years prior to 2002 were also reclassified to

conform to this presentation.

(3) The cumulative effect of accounting change expense of $1.3 million after-tax reflects the adoption of certain provisions of FIN 46 on December 31, 2003

as required for the synthetic lease on our St. Petersburg, Florida, facility.

Consolidated Revenues

Year 2003 Compared with Year 2002. Consolidated revenues
in 2003 of $1.0 billion increased $7.5 million, or 0.7 percent,
over 2002. Card Services revenues decreased $16.4 million, or
2.5 percent, while Check Services experienced revenue growth
of $23.9 million, or 6.9 percent.

Overall, our revenue growth was driven by strong growth

in our card issuer operations outside of South America and

6.9 percent growth in our global check business, which offset

the impact of the loss of a large customer in both our Brazilian
card issuer business in March 2003 and our merchant processing
business in the third quarter of 2002, as well as the purging of
merchants in our merchant processing business who no longer
met our risk profile criteria in November 2002. The strengthening
of certain foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar increased total
U.S. doliar revenues by approximately $6.7 million in 2003. The
strengthening exchange rates of the British pound and Australian
dollar more than offset the more volatile Brazilian real.

Year 2002 Compared with Year 2001. Consolidated revenues
in 2002 of $1.0 billion increased $72.0 million, or 7.7 percent,
over 2001. Card Services revenues grew $29.2 million, or

4.6 percent, while Check Services experienced revenue growth
of $42.8 million, or 14.1 percent.

Overall, our revenue growth was driven by strong growth in
our global card issuer and merchant processing businesses and
14.1 percent growth in our global check business. Currency rate

changes, particularly the weakening of the Brazilian real, reduced
total U.S. dollar revenues by approximately $7.5 milion in 2002,
The Brazilian real remained volatile throughout the year, which
more than offset the strengthening exchange rates of the British
pound and Australian dollar.

Consolidated Operating Expenses

Year 2003 Compared with Year 2002. Consclidated operating
expenses in 2003 of $861.1 million increased $5.0 million, or

0.6 percent, over 2002. Operating expenses for Card Services
decreased $15.4 million, or 2.9 percent, while Check Services
increased $21.3 million, or 7.0 percent. Corporate expenses of
$18.5 million decreased $0.8 million, or 4.1 percent, below 2002,
Both 2003 and 2002 consolidated operating expenses include
$12.2 million of other charges.

Costs of services in 2003 of $732.8 million increased $1.0 million,
or 0.1 percent, over 2002, Card Services experienced a $21.3
million, or 4.5 percent, decline in costs of services driven by a
$29.6 million decrease in card merchant processing interchange
fees (costs of services included $133.0 million and $162.6 million
of interchange fees in 2003 and 2002, respectively) and a
decrease in our South American card issuing costs of services
due to the downsizing of our Brazilian card operation. Costs

of services in our card issuing businesses in the U.S., the UK.,
and Australia increased due to strong volume growth. Costs of
services in Check Services increased $22.3 million, or 8.7 percent,
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driven by volume grom!/th in our global core check businesses, as
well as incremental cHeck cashing costs of services attributable
to the continued roll—o‘ut of services in 2003.

Selling, general, and a{dministrative (“SG&A") expenses in 2003

of $116.1 million increased $4.1 million, or 3.7 percent, over 2002,
Card Services experie}nced a $0.5 million, or 1.0 percent, increase
in SG&A costs driven by incremental selling and administrative
costs related to the acquisition of Netzee on December 31,

2002 and higher setlin‘g and administrative costs in-card issuing,
primarily in the U.S. arPd Australia, which more than offset the
decline in Brazil's SG&A costs attributable to the downsizing

of that operation in ea‘r!y 2003. SG&A costs in Check Services
increased $2.6 million, or 5.8 percent, primarily driven by the
growth in new client a}cquisitions during the year. Corporate SG&A
expense increased $1,‘.O million, or 5.5 percent, primarily due to

higher employee bene:ﬁt and insurance costs.

During 2003, we reoo‘rded other charges of $12.2 million

($7.7 million after-tax)! These charges include $9.6 million of

early termination cost‘s associated with a U.S. data processing

contract, $2.7 million of charges related to the downsizing of
our Brazilian card ope:ration, and ${0.1) million of market value
recoveries on our coll:ateral assignment in life insurance policies,
net of severance oharjges.

Year 2002 Compared with Year 2001. Consolidated

operating expenses &n‘ 2002 of $856.0 million increased
$71.5 million, or 9.1 percent, over 2001. Operating expenses

of Card Services and Check Services increased $19.6 million,

J

or 3.8 percent, and $44.4 million, or 17.0 percent, respectively.
Corporate expenses c})f $19.3 million increased $7.5 million

over 2001. The 2002 [consolidated operating expenses include
$12.2 million of other|charges, while the 2001 consolidated
operating expenses ir%clude goodwill amortization expense and
no adjustment for estljmated additiona! corporate expenses that
we estimate we wou\id have incurred had the spin-off from Equifax

occurred on January h 2001.

(
Costs of services in ZPOZ of $731.8 million increased $45.2
million, or 6.6 percem‘, over 2001 on a GAAP basis. Including
adjustments for goodwill amortization expense and additional

corporate expenses ih 2001, costs of services in 2002 increased
$51.4 million, or 7.6 percent, over non-GAAP 2001. Approximately

!
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$15.0 million of this increase was attributable to growth in card
issuing and merchant volumes and other Card Services items,
while $36.4 million was driven by higher check volumes, as well
as start-up costs related to our check cashing initiatives and other
Check Services items. Card merchant costs of services included
$162.6 million and $146.1 million of interchange fees in 2002

and 2001, respectively.

SG8A expenses in 2002 of $112.0 million increased $14.0
million, or 14.3 percent, over 2001 on a GAAP basis. Including
an adjustment for additional corporate expenses in 2001, SG&A
expenses in 2002 increased $13.1 milion, or 13.2 percent,

over non-GAAP 2001. This increase is largely attributable to

the growth in our international card issuing and North American
check businesses, as well as incremental costs we incurred

as a stand-alone company after the spin-off.

In 2002, we recorded other charges of $12.2 million ($7.7 million
after-tax). These charges include an impairment write-off of

$4.2 million for the remaining intangible asset value assigned to
an acquired customer contract in our Brazilian card operation,
due to the loss of the customer; a $4.0 million charge for the
settlement of a class action lawsuit, net of insurance proceeds;
and $4.0 million of severance charges and market value iosses
on our collateral assignment in life insurance policies.

Consolidated Operating Income

Year 2003 Compared with Year 2002. Consolidated
operating income in 2003 increased $2.5 million, or 1.6 percent,
over 2002. Card Services operating inccme declined $1.0 million,
or 0.8 percent, while Check Services operating income increased
$2.7 million, or 6.4 percent. General corporate expense declined
$0.8 million, or 4.1 percent, below 2002. Combined operating
margins were 15,2 percent in 2003 and 15.1 percent in 2002.
Both 2003 and 2002 consolidated operating income includes
$12.2 million of other charges.

The operating income growth experienced in 2003 was primarily
driven by strong revenue growth in card issuing outside of South
America. The strengthening of certain foreign currencies against
the U.S. dollar increased total U.S. dollar operating income by
approximately $2.0 million in 2003. The strengthening exchange
rates of the British pound and Australian dollar more than offset
the more volatile Brazilian real.




Year 2002 Compared with Year 2001. Consolidated operating
income in 2002 increased $0.5 million, or 0.4 percent, over

2001 on a GAAP basis. Card Services operating income grew
$9.6 million, or 8.0 percent, while Check Services operating
income decreased $1.6 million, or 3.7 percent. General corporate
expense increased $7.5 million over 2001, which was the year

in which the corporate headquarters office was established after
the spin-off from Equifax. Combined operating margins were
15.1 percent in 2002 and 16.2 percent in 2001. The 2002
consolidated operating income includes $12.2 million of other
charges, while the 2001 consolidated operating income includes
$8.6 million of goodwill amortization expense and no adjustment
for estimated additional corporate expenses that we would have
incurred had the spin-off from Equifax occurred on January 1, 2001.

Consolidated operating income in 2002 decreased $4.8 million,
or 3.0 percent, compared to non-GAAP operating income of
$156.7 million in 2001, which is adjusted for goodwill amortization
expense and additional corporate expenses. The operating
income decline experienced in 2002 was driven by the $12.2
million of other charges incurred in 2002, reduced operating
income in our South American card operations due to unfavorable
currency rates and volatile economic conditions, and costs associ-
ated with our continued investment in check cashing initiatives.
Currency rate changes, particularly the weakening of the Brazilian
real, reduced total U.S. dollar operating income by approximately
$0.9 million in 2002. The Brazilian real remained volatile through-
out the year, which more than offset the strengthening exchange
rates of the British pound and Australian dollar.

Consolidated Other Income, Net

Consolidated other income, net, which principally consists

of interest income and net foreign currency exchange gains,
totaled $2.3 million, $1.1 million, and $0.1 million during 2003,
2002, and 2001, respectively. The increase in 2003 over the
respective prior year periods is due primarily to income earned
on temporary cash balances, primarily outside the U.S.

Consolidated Interest Expense

During September 2003, we issued $200 million of five-year senior
unsecured notes at 4.75 percent, the proceeds of which were
primarily used to repay outstanding indebtedness on our revolving
credit facility (see Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements
for further information).

Interest expense in 2003 of $8.0 million increased $0.8 million
compared to both 2002 and 2001. The growth in interest expense
in 2003 compared to 2002 is driven by periodic borrowings on
our revolving credit facility and the issuance of our $200 million

five-year notes in September 2003. The 2001 interest expense
includes interest expense on our revolving credit facility from the
Distribution date of July 7, 2001 through the end of the year.
Interest expense for the period prior to the Distribution principally
consists of interest paid on a line of credit held by our card
processing operation in Brazil, and interest charged by Equifax

on overnight funds borrowed on our behalf. We were not allocated
any Equifax corporate debt or related interest expense, as
historically, these amounts were not allocated to the cperating
divisions by Equifax. We estimate our interest expense would
have increased by $8.4 million in 2001 had Equifax allocated
interest expense to us on $275 million of debt in the period prior
to the Distribution. This interest amount is based on annual
interest at a rate of LIBOR plus 100 basis points, which was our
cost of borrowing under the revolving credit facility we utilized

to fund the payment to Equifax. Considering the additional interest
expense that would have been incurred in 2001 had the spin-off
from Equifax occurred on January 1, 2001, overall interest
expense in 2002 declined compared to non-GAAP 2001 due

to lower interest rates and lower average debt balances in 2002.

Our outstanding long-term debt at December 31, 2003 consists
of 1) $199.4 million of five-year notes, which is net of unameortized
discount; 2) $22.4 million of long-term notes payable related to
our St. Petersburg, Florida, synthetic lease resuiting from the
adoption of certain provisions of FIN 46 (see Notes 2 and 6 to

the consolidated financial statements for further information); and
3) $0.6 million of capital lease obligations for computer equipment.

Interest expense is expected to increase in 2004 as a result

of our fixed rate $200 million notes and the consolidation of our
S3t. Petersburg, Florida, synthetic lease required by the adoption
of certain provisions of FIN 46.

Effective Tax Rate

Our effective tax rates were 37.0 percent (before the cumulative
effect of the accounting change), 38.3 percent, and 39.0 percent
in 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively. Our lower effective rate in
2003 was driven by the implementation of certain international and
state tax planning strategies. Effective tax rate changes from 2001
to 2002 were mainly driven by the elimination of goodwill amortiza-
tion beginning January 1, 2002, as required by SFAS 142. We
expect our effective tax rate to be 37.0 percent in 2004.

Prior to the Distribution, we were included in the consolidated
federal income tax return of Equifax. Federal and certain state tax
provisions were settled through the intercompany accounts, and
Equifax made income tax payments on our behalf. The provision
for income taxes for the period prior to the Distribution reflects
federal, state, and foreign taxes calculated using the separate
return basis.
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Consolidated Net {ncome and Earnings per Share
Year 2003 Compared with Year 2002. Consolidated net
income, including the| cumulative effect of a change in accounting

principle in 2003, of @92.4 million increased $2.4 million, or

2.7 percent, comparéd to 2002, while diluted earnings per share

in 2003, including the‘ cumulative effect of the accounting change,

|
of $1.40 increased $0.10, or 7.7 percent. Both 2003 and 2002

consolidated net incojme includes $12.2 million of other charges
($7.7 million after—tax)f. As described earlier, we adopted certain

provisions of FIN 46 o;n December 31, 20083, as required for the

synthetic lease on ou;r St. Petersburg, Florida, facility. In conjunc-
tion with the adoption: of these provisions of FIN 48, we recognized
a cumulative effect of :accounting change expense of $1.3 million
after-tax, or $0.02 perdiluted share.

The repurchase of 2.6‘5 million shares of common stock in 2003

had a favorable impact on earnings per share compared to the

prior year by reducind our weighted-average shares outstanding

by approximately 1.0 lmiliion shares.

\
Year 2002 Compare;d with Year 2001. Consolidated net income

in 2002 of $90.0 million increased $2.9 million, or 3.3 percent,

while diluted earnings} per share in 2002 of $1.30 increased $0.04,
|

|
SEGMENT RESULTS

Man‘_agement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations continued

or 3.2 percent, compared to 2001 on a GAAP basis. The 2002
consolidated net income includes $12.2 million ($7.7 million after-
tax) of other charges, while the 2001 consolidated net income
includes $8.6 million ($7.3 million after-tax) of goodwill amortization
expense and no adjustment for estimated additional corporate
expenses that we estimate we would have incurred had the spin-
off from Equifax occurred on January 1, 2001.

Consolidated net income in 2002 increased $2.8 million, or

3.2 percent, compared to non-GAAP net income of $87.2 million
in 2001, which is adjusted for goodwill amortization expense and
additional corporate expenses. Diluted earnings per share in 2002
increased $0.04, or 3.2 percent, compared to non-GAAP diluted
earnings per share of $1.26 in 2001.

The repurchase of 3.4 million shares of common stock in

2002 had a favorable impact on earnings per share compared to
the prior year by reducing our weighted-average shares outstand-
ing by approximately 0.8 million shares.

In 2001, minority interests in earnings related to minority owner-
ship of our Brazilian card processing operation. We acquired full
ownership of this operation in May 2001, and, as a result, there
were no minority interests in earnings in 2002 or 2003.

The following table summarizes our segment results for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001:

} 2001
(in miflions) | 2003 2002 2001 Non-GAAP
Revenues: i
Card Services i $ 6445 $ 6608 $ 6317 $ 6317
Check Services | 371.0 347.1 3043 304.3
\ $ 1,0155 $ 1,008.0 $ 8360 $ 9360
Cperating Income: ‘
Card Services ; $ 1283 $ 128.3 $ 11938 $ 1274
Check Services | 44.6 41.9 43.5 44 4
1 172.9 171.2 163.3 171.8
General corporate e*pense {18.5) (19.3) (11.9) (15.1)
‘ $ 154.4 $ 1519 $ 1514 $ 1567




Adjustments to reconcile actual operating income (GAAP) to non-
GAAP operating income for the year ended December 31, 2001,
as previously discussed, are as follows:

2001
(in milions) Card Check Corp
GAAP Operating Income $ 1198 $ 435 $ (119
Additional corporate expenses — — 3.2)

Elimination of goodwill
amortization expense 7.6 0.8 —

Non-GAAP Operating Income $  127.4 $§ 444 §  (15.7)

CARD SERVICES

Overview

Our card processing business in North America is concentrated
in the community bank and credit union market segments. We
have long-term contractual allances with two trade associations
representing independent community banks and credit unions in
the U.S., the Independent Community Bankers of America (“the
ICBA") and Card Services for Credit Unions (“CSCU”). In Decem-
ber 2003, our contracts with the ICBA and CSCU were extended
into 2008 and 20089, respectively. Also in 2003, we entered into
a ten-year agreement with IBM to provide data processing and
related services for our U.S. operations, which replaced an
existing arrangement we had with EDS. We expect to achieve
significant cost savings and future operational flexibility through
this new arrangement.

Card transactions continue to increase as a percentage of

total point-of-sale payments, which fuels continuing demand for
card-related products. We continue to launch new products aimed
at serving this demand. In recent years, we have introduced a
variety of stored-value card types, Internet banking, and electronic
bill presentment/payment products, as well as a number of card
enhancement and loyalty/reward programs. The common theme
among these offerings continues to be convenience and security
for the consumer coupled with value to the financial institution.

Over the past six years, we pursued growth in international
markets. In September 1938, Card Services expanded its
operations into South America by acquiring a 59.3 percent interest
in our card processing operation in Brazil, and subsequently
acquired the remaining 40.7 percent ownership in May 2001.

In June 1999, we started a card processing operation in the U.K,,
owning a 51 percent interest, and acquired full ownership in
September 2000. In January 2000, we acquired Procard, a card
processing operation in Chile. Also in 2000, we entered into a five-
year agreement with a multi-national Australian-based financial
institution to process cards issued in Australia, New Zealand,

the U.K., and Ireland, with operations commencing in the second
quarter of 2001. This financial institution is serviced from our card
processing operation in Australia, as well as from our card

processing operation in the U.K. In 2003, we entered into an
eight-year agreement with a Thailand financial institution, whereby
it will outsource the processing of its VISA and MasterCard credit
cards and unsecured personal loans. This financial institution

is also serviced from our card processing operation in Australia.
Card Services plans to pursue further card processing opportuni-
ties in the Asia Pacific Region, utilizing our Australian operation

as the processing center.

Year 2003 Compared with Year 2002. Card Services revenues
of $644.5 million in 2003 decreased $16.4 million, or 2.5 percent,
below 2002. The loss of our largest customer in our Brazilian

card operation, which deconverted its portfolio at the beginning

of March 20083; the loss of a large customer in our merchant
processing business, which was acquired and moved its account
to its new owner's processor in the third quarter of 2002; and the
purging of merchants in our merchant processing business who
no longer met our risk profile criteria in November 2002 were

the largest drivers behind this decline. We experienced strong
growth in card issuing revenue outside of South America, while
card issuing software and support revenue grew $2.1 million,
attributable to a large software implementation and consulting
project that commenced in late 2002. The strengthening of certain
foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar increased our U.S. collar
revenues by approximately $1.6 million in 2003. The strengthening
exchange rates of the British pound and Australian dollar more
than offset the more volatile Brazilian real. At December 31, 2003,
we were processing 46.4 million cards. During 2003, we added
approximately 4.5 million new cards to our global portfolio,

which was offset by a 4.7 million card old base reduction for
planned deconversions and deletion of inactive cards in our
international operations.

North American card issuing revenues of $369.8 million in 2003
increased $40.4 million, or 12.3 percent, over the prior year.

This growth is the result of increasing card usage, new card
issuance, and growth in full-service card loyalty products and
other products, including enhancement programs and e-banking.
North American card transactions increased 9.9 percent over

the prior year, with debit card transaction growth of 18.9 percent
and credit card transaction growth of 3.6 percent. We added
approximately 0.9 million domestic cards during 2003, increasing
our domestic card base to 23.4 million at December 31, 2003.

International card issuing revenues of $82.7 million in 2003
decreased $26.4 million, or 22.2 percent, primarily driven by

the loss of our largest customer in our Brazilian card cperation

in March 2003, Outside of South America, our revenue growth
was driven by the launch of new products and services, as well
as volume growth on our existing customer base in both the U.K.
and Australia. The strengthening of certain foreign currencies
against the U.S. dollar increased our U.S. dollar revenues by
approximately $1.6 million in 2003. The strengthening exchange
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rates of the British pound and Australian dollar more than offset
the more volatile Braz‘ilian real. International card growth totaled
3.6 miliion cards in 2008, a 14.7 percent increase over 2002,

|
which is net of reduc‘gions for planned deconversions and the

. . N |
deletion of inactive ca‘lrds.

Merchant processing| revenues of $170.3 million in 2003
decreased $32.6 milli‘on, or 16.0 percent, below the prior year.
The loss of a large cu;stomer in the third quarter of 2002 and lower
debit interchange rates contributed to a reduction in interchange

pass-through revenu‘e from $162.6 million in 2002 to $133.0

million in 2003, a cha‘nge of $29.6 million. Net of interchange

pass-through, revenu}es in 2003 were below the prior year by
$3.0 million, or 7.3 percent, due primarily to the purging of mer-

chants who no longer‘ met our risk profile criteria in November 2002.

Card issuing softwaré and support revenue of $11.6 million
increased $2.1 millior}\ over the prior year attributable to a

large software implerhentation and consulting project that
commenced in late 2;002. Card issuing software and support
revenue is expected to decline in 2004, as this large project

was substantially conjwpleted as of December 31, 2003.

Card Services operat‘ing income of $128.3 million in 2003, which

includes $11.5 million of other charges, decreased $1.0 million,
or 0.8 percent, comp‘ared to operating income of $129.3 million
in 2002, which includ‘es $6.1 million of other charges. We
experienced growth ih our card issuing operations outside

of South America, dri;ven by strong top-line growth and cost
sfficiencies around the globe, including a reduction in cur
workforce that occurred in late 2002 and reduced data processing
costs inthe U.S. as & result of our new data processing agree-
ment with IBM; howejver, these factors were more than offset
by a $5.4 million incréase in other charges over 2002 and the
negative impacts of t‘he loss of a large customer in our Brazilian
card operation in March 2003. The strengthening of certain
foreign currencies agginst the U.S. dollar increased our U.S.
dollar operating income by approximately $0.9 miliion in 2003,
The strengthening ex}change rates of the British pound and
Australian dollar moré than offset the more volatile Brazilian real.

Year 2002 CompartT,d with Year 2001. Card Services revenues
of $660.9 million in 2002 increased $29.2 million, or 4.6 percent,
over 2001. Our revenjue growth is attributable to existing and new
card growth in both oiur domestic and international card opera-
tions, as well as incre‘:ased revenues in our merchant processing
business. Currency rate changes, particularly the weakening of the
Brazilian real, reduced total U.S. dollar revenues by approximately

$9.7 million in 2002. The Brazilian real remained volatile throughout
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the year, which more than offset the strengthening exchange rates
of the British pound and Australian dollar, At December 31, 2002,
we were processing 46.7 million cards, which is an increase of
5.0 million cards, or 11.9 percent, over the prior year-end.

North American card issuing revenues of $329.4 million in 2002
increased $7.1 million, or 2.2 percent, over the prior year. This
growth is the result of increased card usage, new card growth,
and increased pricing on certain contracts that was fully in place
by the fourth quarter of 2002. North American card transactions
increased 8.5 percent over the prior year, with debit card transac-
tion growth of 18.7 percent and credit card transaction growth of
2.5 percent. We added approximately 1.0 million domestic cards
during 2002, increasing our domestic card base to 22.5 million

at December 31, 2002.

International card issuing revenues of $119.1 million in 2002
increased $7.0 million, or 6.3 percent, over the pricr year, primarily
driven by card growth. International card growth totaled 4.0 million
cards in 2002, increasing our international card base to 24.2 mil-
lion at December 31, 2002, which represents a 19.8 percent
increase over 2001. The start-up of our Australian card operation
and conversion of a mutti-national Australian-based bank portfolic
in the third quarter of 2001 contributed an additional 1.0 million
cards in 2002, a 38.2 percent increase over its card base at
December 31, 2001. Currency rate changes, particularly the
weakening of the Brazilian real, reduced total U.S. dollar revenues
by approximately $9.7 million in 2002. The Brazilian real remained
volatile throughout the year, which more than offset the strength-
ening exchange rates of the British pound and Australian dollar.

Merchant processing revenues of $202.9 million in 2002 increased
$15.4 million, or 8.2 percent, above the prior year. Late in the

third quarter of 2002, a large merchant processing customer was
acquired and moved its account to its new owner's processor.
Additionally, in the second half of 2002, we severed relationships
with other merchant processing customers whose risk profiles no
longer met our requirements. Both of these factors reduced our
merchant processing revenue growth during 2002,

Card issuing software and support revenue of $9.5 million
decreased by $0.3 million over the prior year due to a reduction
in software and consulting sales.

Card Services operating income of $129.3 million in 2002, which
includes $6.1 million of other charges, increased $9.6 million, or
8.0 percent, compared to operating income of $119.8 million in
2001 on a GAAP basis, which includes $7.6 million of goodwill
amortization expense. Card Services operating income in 2002
increased $2.0 million, or 1.5 percent, compared to non-GAAP




operating income of $127.4 million in 2001, which is adjusted to
exclude goodwill amortization expense. This increase in operating
income in 2002 compared to non-GAAP 2001 is attributable to
the growth in our North American card issuing revenue, combined
with cost improvement initiatives that include renegotiation of
certain vendor contracts during 2002 resulting in lower data
processing costs, new technology advances, reductions in the
workforce, and other process efficiencies that were placed in
service throughout the year. These initiatives helped to offset the
reduced operating income in our South American operations due
to unfavorable currency rates and volatile economic conditions
brought on by factors that included the October 2002 Brazilian
presidential election and the $6.1 million of other charges incurred
in 2002. Currency rate changes, particularly the weakening of the
Brazilian real, reduced our U.S. dollar operating income by
approximately $1.6 million in 2002. The Brazilian real remained
volatile throughout the year, which more than offset the strength-
ening exchange rates of the British pound and Australian dollar.

CHECK SERVICES

Overview

We believe check writing has begun to decline as a total percent-
age of point-of-sale payments due, in part, to the growing use of
debit and credit cards. At the same time, however, demand for
our services is strong due to factors that include increasing
sophistication of check fraud and higher concentration of bad
checks written at the point-of-sale due to a trend of higher credit
quality consumers paying more with credit and debit cards and
writing fewer checks. These factors are contributing to a growing
reliance of retailers and other businesses on outside vendors, such
as us, to provide check risk management services. Additionally, in
recent years, we have introduced several new products for
existing and new markets, including payroll check cashing and
third-party check collections.

Year 2003 Compared with Year 2002. Check Services revenues
of $371.0 million in 2003 increased $23.9 miliion, or 6.9 percent,
over 2002, driven by volume growth and new customer signings
in both our domestic and international check operations. The
strengthening of the British pound against the U.S. dollar increased
our U.S. dollar revenues by approximately $5.1 million in 2003.
The face amount of checks we authorized totaled $35.2 billion

in 2003 as compared to $35.0 billion in 2002. Guarantee

volumes grew from $26.7 billion in 2002 to $28.0 billion in 2003,

a 5.2 percent increase over the prior year.

North American check revenues of $307.8 million increased
$13.2 million, or 4.5 percent, over 2002, driven by a 4.4 percent
increase in check guarantee volumes, largely resulting from the
addition of new customers, and growth in our check cashing
revenues. Growth in our core business was impacted by weak
retail sales throughout the year driven by soft consumer spending.

The face amount of checks we authorized in the U.S. totaled
$31.8 billion in 2008 as compared to $31.6 billion in 2002.

International check revenues of $83.2 million in 2003 increased
$10.7 million, or 20.5 percent, over 2002, as the face amount

of checks we authorized increased to $3.4 billion in 2003 as
compared to $3.3 billion in 2002. The strengthening of the British
pound against the U.S. dollar increased our U.S. dollar revenues
by approximately $5.1 million in 2003.

Check Services operating income of $44.6 million in 2003, which
includes $1.0 million of other charges, increased $2.7 million, or
6.4 percent, compared to operating income of $41.9 million in
2002, which includes $4.7 million of other charges. The growth
in Check Services operating income is attributable to $3.7 million
lower other charges in 2003, which more than offset the negative
impact of lower-margin new customer signings, mix shifts, and
economic factors, as well as incremental check cashing start-up
costs in 2003 compared to 2002. The strengthening of the British
pound against the U.S. dollar increased our U.S. dollar operating
income by approximately $1.1 million in 2003,

Year 2002 Compared with Year 2001. Check Services revenues
of $347.1 million in 2002 increased $42.8 million, or 14.1 percent,
over 2001. Our revenue growth is driven by market share gains

in both our domestic and international check operations. The
strengthening of the British pound against the U.S. dollar increased
our U.S. dollar revenues by approximately $2.2 million in 2002. The
face amount of checks we authorized totaled $35.0 billion in 2002
as compared to $32.1 pillion in 2001. Guarantee volumes grew
from $23.3 billion in 2001 to $26.7 billion in 2002, a 14.6 percent
increase over the prior year.

North American Check revenues of $294.6 million increased
$36.5 million, or 14.1 percent, over 2001, driven by increased
volumes largely resulting from the addition of new customers.
The face amount of checks we authorized in the U.S. totaled
$31.6 billion in 2002 as compared to $29.0 billion in 2001,

International check revenues of $52.5 million in 2002 increased
$6.3 million, or 13.6 percent, over 2001, as the face amount

of checks we authorized increased to $3.3 billion in 2002 as
compared to $3.1 billion in 2001. The strengthening of the British
pound against the U.S. dollar increased our U.S. dollar revenues
by approximately $2.2 million in 2002.

Check Services operating income of $41.9 million in 2002, which
includes $4.7 million of other charges, decreased $1.6 milion,

or 3.7 percent, compared to operating income of $43.5 million

in 2001 on a GAAP basis, which includes $0.9 million of goodwilt
amortization expense. Check Services operating income in 2002
decreased $2.5 million, or 5.7 percent, compared to non-GAAP
operating income of $44 .4 million in 2002, which is adjusted to
exclude goodwill amortization expense. The decline in operating
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income in 2002 comgared to non-GAAP 2001 is a result of the
$4.6 milion of other c:harges incurred in 2002, incremental costs
associated with the o;ontinued investment in our check cashing
initiatives, and the im?act of a higher percentage of business
shifting toward lower-priced national accounts, which were
partially offset by the }'evenue growth in our core check business.
Check guarantee net|losses remained relatively stable, even during
a difficult economic pericd for retailers. Improvements in collection
methodologies have énhanced recovery rates, further helping us
to maintain relatively étable net losses. The strengthening of the
British pound against|the U.S. dollar increased our U.S. dollar
operating income by approximately $0.7 million in 2002.

GENERAL CORPOI‘?ATE EXPENSE

Year 2003 Compared to Year 2002. General corporate expense
of $18.5 million in 2003, which includes $(0.3) million of market
value recoveries of our collateral assignment in life insurance

- | -
policies, net of severance charges, decreased $0.8 million,

or 4.1 percent, compared to general corporate expense of
$19.3 million in 2002, which includes $1.4 million of severance

and market value fosses on our collateral assignment in life

insurance policies. Trﬁle decline in general corporate expense is
attributable to the $1 .}7 million decrease in other charges in 2003,
which more than offset the growth in general corporate expense
driven by higher insurance and employee benefits costs in

2003 compared to 2?02.

Year 2002 Comparéd to Year 2001. General corporate expense
of $19.3 million in 2002, which includes $1.4 million of other
charges, increased $17‘.4 million over 2001 on a GAAP basis,

which does not include any additional corporate costs that we

estimate we would have incurred had we been a stand-alone
company for the entir‘e year. General corporate expense increased
$4.2 million, or 27.9 ﬁ)ercent, compared to non-GAAP general
corporate expense of $15.1 million in 2001, which is adjusted

for $3.2 million of additional corporate costs that we estimate we
would have incurred had we been operating on a stand-alone
company basis for the entire year, driven by the $1.4 millicn

of other charges, incremental costs for the conversion of adminis-
trative functions whio:h were previously outsourced to a third-party,

and recruiting and relbcation expenses for new hires in 2002.

LIQUIDITY AND C(\PITAL RESOURCES

We have historically generated and continue to generate strong
l

cash flows from our operating activities that we use to further
invest in our business;, through expenditures for capital and
strategic acquisitions. Additionally, since our spin-off from Equifax

in 2001, we have engaged in periodic repurchases of our common
|
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shares, when it has been deemed appropriate, and began to pay
cash dividends to our shareholders in 2003. Proceeds from stock
option exercises have varied each year, primarily driven by
changes in our stock price.

In conjunction with the spin-off from Equifax, we made a cash
payment to Equifax in the amount of $275 million in July 2001 to
reflect Certegy’s share of Equifax’s pre-distribution debt used
to establish our initial capitalization. This payment was funded
through $400 million unsecured revolving credit facilities we
obtained. Since that time, we have used available cash flow

to reduce our outstanding balance on these facilities and on
September 10, 2003, we used the proceeds from our offering
of 4.75 percent fixed rate five-year notes with a face value of
$200 million to pay down the remaining revolver balance.

Cash flow from operations is expected to be strong in 2004.

Our cash needs for 2004 will be primarily related to capital
expenditures and payment of dividends. We expect our capital
expenditures for 2004 to be approximately $45 million. We plan
to use a significant portion of our remaining available cash flow
to repurchase our common shares, however, the extent of share
repurchases could change based upon acquisition opportunities.

We regularly evaluate cash requirements for current operations,
development activities, and acquisitions. We may elect to raise
additional funds for these purposes, either through further bank
financing or the public capital markets, as appropriate. Based
on our recent financial results and current financial position, we
believe that additional funding will be available if required to mest
our capital requirements.

Year 2003 Compared with Year 2002.

Operating Activities, \We continue to generate significant cash
flow from operating activities, totaling $138.1 million in 2003,

an increase of $11.4 milion above 2002. The 2003 cash flow
was produced from net income of $92.4 million, adjusted for
depreciation and amortization of $42.0 million, deferred taxes
of $13.6 million, and other noncash items of $13.1 million,
including the cumulative effect of the accounting change, offset
by a $23.0 million cash outlay for net working capital items.

The working capital items noted above primarily include the
following: $9.2 million for other assets, $5.1 million for claims
accounts in our Check Services business, and $8.7 miliion for
changes in other current assets and liabilities. These changes
include prepaid expenses, the payment of $9.7 million of contract
termination charges, a $4.0 million settlement of a class action
lawsuit accrued in 2002, and income taxes.




We used our cash flow from operating activities primarily to
reinvest in our existing businesses through expenditures for
equipment and systems development and the acquisition of
a merchant portfolio. We also used operating cash flows to
repay temporary borrowings on our revelving credit facility
and to fund treasury stock purchases.

Investing Activities, Capital expenditures in 2003 of $44.0
million decreased $5.0 million below the prior year period. Capital
expenditures in 2003 were primarily for processing equipment
and software in our global card issuing operations, systems
development for new products and services, and capital invest-
ment for our check cashing program. Additionally, we acquired

a merchant portfolio in September 2003 for $4.5 million in cash.

Financing Activities. In September 2003, we completed

our offering of $200 million aggregate principal amount of
unsecured 4.75 percent notes (priced to yield 4.82 percent)

due in 2008. The notes rank equally with alf of our existing

and future unsecured, unsubordinated debt. The notes were

sold at a discount of $0.6 million, which along with related note
issuance costs, will be amortized over the term of the notes. We
used the net proceeds from this offering to pay off the outstanding
indebtedness under our $300 million revolving credit facility and
for general corporate purposes.

Addttionally, during 2003, the Board of Directors increased total
remaining share repurchase authority to $100 million, of which
$40.1 million remains as of December 31, 2003. We repurchased
2.6 million shares of common stock during 2003 at a total cost of
$73.6 million. There were $79.6 million of common stock repur-
chases during the prior year period. Proceeds from the exercise
of stock options in 2003 totaled $5.5 milion, compared with $15.2
million in the prior year period. In August and November 20083, the
Board of Directors approved a quarterly common stock dividend
of $0.05 per share payable on October 15, 2003 and January 15,
2004, respectively. The amount of the quarterly dividend paid in
2003 was $3.2 million.

Year 2002 Compared with Year 2001.

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by operating activities
totaled $126.7 million in 2002 as compared with $102.8 million in
2001. The 2001 amount was reduced by $29.0 million, which is
related to the timing of settlements in the card and merchant
processing clearing system. Prior to the spin-off, Equifax held the
cash deposits associated with this settlement process, which
were included in our intercompany receivable from Equifax, a
component of equity. Operating activities provided cash of
$131.9 million in 2001 before the effect of this settliement activity.
We used operating cash flow primarily to reinvest in existing
businesses and to contribute to the financing of acquisitions,
repurchase of common stock, and repayment of long-term debt.

Investing Activities. Net cash used in investing activities totaled
$59.4 million in 2002 and $128.4 million in 2001, Capital expendi-
tures, exclusive of acquisitions, totaled $49.0 million in 2002 and
$49.3 million in 2001. Cash used for acquisitions, net of cash
acquired, totaled $10.4 million and $79.0 million in 2002 and
2001, respectively.

Financing Activities. Net cash used in financing activities totaled
$79.8 million in 2002. Net repayments on long-term debt totaled
$15.8 million, while proceeds from the exercise of employee stock
options totaled $15.9 million. We repurchased 3.4 million shares
of common stock at a total cost of $79.6 million in 2002, Net cash
provided by financing activities in 2001 totaled $24.9 million. Net
borrowings on our revolving credit facility of $230.0 million were
used to fund the $275 million payment to Equifax in July 2001

and the acquisition of Accu Chek in August 2001. Proceeds

from the exercise of employee stock options totaled $4.0 million,
and we repurchased 81,400 shares of common stock at a total
cost of $2.4 million in 2001. Net repayments to Equifax were
$206.6 million in 2001, which includes the $275 million payment
at the time of the Distribution.

General

Revolving Credit Facility. In September 2003, we cancelled

our $300 million revolving credit facility and replaced it with a new
$200 million revolving credit facility, which expires in September
20086. The new facllity has substantially the same terms as the
former facility, except there are no subsidiary guarantees. The new
facility bears interest at an annual rate of LIBOR plus 100 basis
points and contains certain financial covenants related to interest
coverage and funded debt to cash flow. Borrowings on the new
facility are available to meet working capital needs and to fund
strategic acquisitions and the periodic repurchase of shares when
deemed appropriate. There was no outstanding balance under
this facility at December 31, 2003. The amount outstanding under
the $300 million facility at December 31, 2002 was $214.2 million.

We also have an unsecured revolving credit facility that provides
advances to finance our customers' shortfalls in the daily funding
requirements assoclated with our credit and debit card settlement
operations. Upon renewal of this facility in June 2003, we lowered
the total available borrowing amount from $130 million to $100
million. Outstanding borrowings on this credit facility are classified
as part of the Company’s settlement payables in the consolidated
balance sheets. There were no amounts outstanding under this
facility at December 31, 2003 or December 31, 2002.

Contractual Obligations. In 2003, we entered into a ten-year
agreement with IBM, which replaced our existing agreement with
EDS for U.S. data processing services. The transition from EDS
to IBM was completed in the third quarter of 2003.
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Mahggement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition
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The following table summarizes our significant contractual obligations and commitments as of December 31, 2003:

Payments Due By

Less Than 1103 4105
(In millions) Total 1 Year Years Years Thereafter
Long-term debt (Note} ) $ 2218 $ — $ — $ 1994 $ 224
Operating leases (Not‘}e 10) 48.5 10.8 17.0 10.8 7.9
\
Capital leases (Note 6) 06 0.2 0.3 0.1 —
Data processing agreffament obligations (Note 10) 253.7 36.2 68.1 57.6 91.8
Total | $ 5226 § 472 $ 854 $ 2679 $ 1221

Note: This table exclude‘s other obligations that we may have, such as employee benefit obligations (discussed in Note 9 to the consolidated financial statements),
residual value guarantees under our synthetic leases (see Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements), and other current and leng-term liabilities reflected in

our consolidated balance sheets.
|

Off-Balance Sheet|/Arrangements. Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements @Iso describes certain off-balance sheet
arrangements in the iform of synthetic leases and the change in
accounting for one of the leases that was adopted on December

31, 2003 in accordapce with certain provisions of FIN 46.

Other than facility leeilsing arrangements, we do not engage in
off-balance sheet ﬂn%ancing activities. We entered into synthetic
operating leases in o:rder to provide us with favorable financing
arrangements with régard to the facilities subject to the leases.
The first synthetic Ie%\se on our Madison, Wisconsin, facility

of $10.4 million was }entered into in 1997 and the second synthetic
lease on our St. Petérsburg, Florida, facility of $23.2 million was
entered into in 1999, both of which expire in 2009. Under these
synthetic lease arran‘gements, we have guaranteed the residual

value of the leased properties to the lessors. In the event the

properties are sold by the lessors at the end of the lease terms,
we would be responéible for any shortfall of the sales proceeds
under $26.4 million, which approximates 79 percent of the value
of the properties at the beginning of the lease terms. We believe
the fair market values of these properties exceed the amount of
the guarantees. On December 31, 2003, we adopted certain
provisions of FIN 46,( which required us to consclidate our St.
Petersburg, Florida, f‘aoility in our consolidated financial statements.

As described in Notca:, 2 to the consolidated financial statements,

we have an interest r;ate swap arrangement in effect that fixes the
interest rate for one ¢f our variable rate synthetic lease obligations.
This derivative has been designated as a cash flow hedge, was
documented as fullyjeffective, and at December 31, 2003, was
valued as a liability totaling $1.5 million.

Related Parties. Other than our transactions with Equifax, which
are described in Not‘e 5 to the consolidated financial statements,
we do not have any material related-party transactions.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect reported amounts and related disclosures. Management
censiders an accounting estimate to be critical if:

¢ it requires assumptions to be made that were uncertain at the
time the estimate was made; and

¢ changes in the estimate or different estimates that could have
been selected could have a material impact on our consolidated
results of operations or financial condition.

Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements. We belleve that the foliowing
accounting policies involve a higher degree of complexity and
warrant specific description.

Reserve for Card Merchant Processing and Check Guaran-
tee Losses. In our direct card merchant processing business, if,
due to insclvency or bankruptcy of the merchant, or for another
reason, we are not able to collect amounts from our merchant
customers that have been properly “charged back” by the
cardholders, we must bear the credit risk for the full amount of
the cardholder transaction. We require cash deposits and other
types of collateral from certain merchants to minimize any such
risk. In addition, we utilize a number of systems and procedures
to manage merchant risk and believe that the diversification of our
merchant portfolio among industries and geographic regions
minimizes our risk of loss. Card merchant processing loss reserves
are primarily determined by performing a historical analysis of our
chargeback loss experience and considering other factors that
could affect that experience in the future. Such items include the
general economy and the credit quality of our merchant customers.
Once these factors are considered, we assess the reserve



adequacy by comparing the recorded reserve to the estimated
amount based on an analysis of the current trend changes

or specific anticipated future events. Any adjustments are charged
to costs of services. This reserve amount is subject to risk that
actual losses may be greater than our estimates. At December 31,
2008 and 2002, we had aggregate card merchant processing loss
reserves of $1.1 million and $1.0 million, respectively, which are
included in other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

In our check guarantee business, if a guaranteed check presented
to a merchant customer is dishonored by the check writer's bank,
we reimburse our merchant customer for the check’s face value
and pursue coliection of the amount from the delinquent check
writer. Loss reserves and anticipated recoveries are primarily
determined by performing a historical analysis of our check

loss and recovery experience and considering other factors that
could affect that experience in the future. Such items include

the general economy, the overall industry mix of our customer
volumes, statistical analysis of check fraud trends within our
customer volumes, and the quality of returned checks. Once these
factors are considered, we establish a rate for check losses that is
calcutated by dividing the expected check losses by dollar volume
processed and a rate for anticipated recoveries that is calculated
by dividing the anticipated recoveries by the total amount of
related check losses. These rates are then applied against the
dollar volume processed and check losses, respectively, each
month and charged to costs of services. The estimated check
returns and recovery amounts are subject to risk that actual
amounts returned and recovered may be different than our
estimates. At December 31, 2003 and 2002, we had accrued
claims payable and accrued claims recoverable balances of
$38.3 million and $46.5 million, and $48.3 million and $50.3
million, respectively.

Historically, such estimation processes have proven to be
materially accurate; however, our projections of probable card
merchant processing losses, check guarantee losses, and
anticipated recoveries are inherently uncertain, and as a result,
we cannot predict with certainty the amount of such items.
Changes in economic conditions, the risk characteristics and
composition of our customers, and other factors could impact
our actual and projected amounts. Expenses of $152.9 million,
$146.1 million, and $128.7 million, respectively, were recorded

in costs of services for the years ended December 31, 20083,
2002, and 2001, for card merchant processing losses and check
guarantee losses, net of anticipated recoveries. A one percent
increase in our card merchant processing and check guarantee
losses, net of anticipated recoveries, in 2003 would have reduced
2003 net income by approximately $1.0 million after-tax.

Valuation of Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Assets. Goodwill
and certain other intangible assets are tested for impairment in
accordance with SFAS 142, and all other long-lived assets are
tested in accordance with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the
Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets.” We regularly
evaluate whether events and circumstances have occurred which
indicate that the carrying amounts of goodwill and cther long-lived
assets {primarily property and equipment, other intangible assets,
and systems development and other deferred costs) may be
impaired or not recoverable. The significant factors that are
considered that could trigger an impairment review include:
changes in business strategy, market conditions, or the manner
of use of an asset; underperformance relative to historical or
expected future operating results; and negative industry or
economic trends. In evaluating an asset for possible impairment,
management estimates that asset’s future undiscounted cash
flows to measure whether the asset is recoverable. If it is
determined that the asset is not recoverable, we measure the
impairment based on the projected discounted cash flows of

the asset over its remaining life.

We make certain estimates and assumptions that affect the
determination of the expected future cash flows of assets. These
estimates and assumptions include revenue and operating income
growth, asset-related expenditures, and other factors. While we
believe that our estimates of future cash flows are reasonable,
different assumptions regarding such cash flows could materially
affect these evaluations and could result in an impairment. In the
opinion of management, goodwill and other long-lived assets are
appropriately valued at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Income Taxes. We record income taxes in accordance with the
provisions of SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,”
using the asset and liability method. The asset and fiability method
requires the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities for
expected future tax consequences of temporary differences that
exist between the tax bases and financial reporting bases of our
assets and liabilities, based on enacted tax rates expected to
apply in the years in which the temporary differences are expected
10 be recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is provided
against deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not

that some or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.

No provision is made for U.S. income taxes on undistributed
earnings of certain foreign subsidiaries because those earnings
are considered permanently reinvested in the operations of

those subsidiaries.

In aadition to estimating the future tax rates applicable to
the reversal of tax differences, management must also make
certain assumptions regarding whether tax differences are
permanent or temporary. If the differences are temporary,
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management must e:stimate the timing of their reversal and

whether taxable cperating income in future periods will be

sufficient to fully recognize any gross deferred tax assets.
\

For the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001,
management made no material changes in its assumptions
regarding the determ‘[nation of the provision for income taxes,
except that during 20\02’ we determined that our investments in
certain foreign subsid‘iaries are permanently invested and will not
be repatriated to the U.S. in the foreseeable future. Future U.S. tax
consequences on thé undistributed earnings of these subsidiaries
are no longer considéred in the tax provision calculation in
accordance with APé Opinion No. 23. At December 31, 2003,
there are approximatgly $24.1 million of undistributed net earnings
for which no addition:al U.S. tax is provided. Certain events could
occur that would ma‘terially affect our estimates and assumptions
regarding deferred taxes. Changes in current tax laws and
applicable enacted te;lx rates could affect the valuation of deferred
tax assets and Iiabiliti‘es, thereby impacting our income tax
provision. Additionally, significant declines in taxable operating
income could materizjally impact the realizable value of deferred

tax assets.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, our provision for income
taxes was $55.1 millijon, consisting of $40.0 million for current tax
expense and $15.1 r“mllion for deferred tax expense. Changes in
management's estimfates and assumptions regarding the enacted
tax rate applied to de:ferred tax assets and liabilities, the ability

to realize the value of deferred tax assets, or the timing of the
reversal of tax basis aifferences could potentially impact the
provision for income {taxes. A one percent change in the effective
tax rate from 37.0 pe“rcent in 2003 to 38.0 percent would have

increased the 2003 irbcome tax provision by $1.5 million.

Employee Benefit bbligations. The plan obligations and related
assets of our defined‘ benefit retirement and postretirement plans
are presented in Not<1e 9 to the consoclidated financial statements.
Plan assets, which cbnsist primarily of marketable equity and debt
instruments, are valu"ed using market guotations. Plan obligations
and the annual net p:eriodic benefit cost are determined by
independent actuaries and through the use of a number of
assumptions. Key as“sumptions in measuring the plan obligations
include the discount irate, the rate of salary increases, and the
estimated future return on plan assets. In determining the discount
rate, we utilize the yield on high-quality, fixed-income investments

currently available wi‘th maturities corresponding to the anticipated

|
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timing of benefit payments. Salary increase assumptions are
based upon histerical experience and anticipated future manage-
ment actions. Asset returns are based upon the anticipated average
rate of earnings expected on the invested funds of the plans.

We have made certain other estimates that, while not involving

the same degree of judgment, are important to understanding our
financial statements. On an ongoing basis, management evaluates
its estimates and judgments in these areas based on its historical
experience and other relevant factors. Management's estimates

as of the date of the financial statements reflect its best judgment
giving consideration to all currently available facts and circumstances.
As such, these estimates may require adjustment in the future, as
additional facts become known or as circumstances change.

SEASONALITY, INFLATION, AND ECONOMIC
DOWNTURNS

We are subject to certain seasonal fluctuations, such as peak
activity during the holiday buying season. We do not believe

that inflation has had a material effect on our operating resulits;
however, inflation could adversely affect our financial results were
it to result in a substantial weakening in economic conditions that
adversely affects the level of consumer spending. Our check
revenue growth has continued to be impacted by wezk retail sales
driven in part by soft consumer spending.

The Brazilian market is characterized by political and economic
uncertainty that causes volatility in currency values, and historically
has resulted in severe inflationary pressures. Notwithstanding this
uncertainty, we believe that the long-term prospects offered by the
Brazilian market are attractive and our continued focus on growing
our Brazilian business and attaining cost efficiencies should
provide us with a cost structure that can withstand short-term
declines in business driven by the uncertain market and the loss
of our largest customer in March 2003.

Our Brazilian operations had net assets of approximately

$102.2 million at December 31, 2003, which includes a net

equity reduction of $96.7 million as a result of cumulative foreign
currency translation. Pursuant to SFAS 142 and SFAS 144,

these assets are subject to regular evaluations to assess their
recoverability. In the opinion of management, these assets are
appropriately valued at December 31, 2003 and 2002; however, if
we are unable to improve profitability in our Brazilian operations by
growing revenue or achieving the necessary cost efficient structure
in the future, this could have an impact on our opinion regarding
the valuation of these assets, which could lead to an impairment
charge against net income.




QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES
ABOUT MARKET RISK

Based on analysis completed and described below, we do not
believe that we are exposed to material market risk from changes
in interest rates or foreign currency exchange rates.

Interest rates. We have an unsecured revolving credit facility
and a synthetic lease obligaﬁon that have variable interest rates;
therefore, we are exposed to the impact of interest rate fluctua-
tions. This risk is somewhat mitigated by our ability to fix the base
LIBOR rate for periods of up to six months on our revolving credit
facility and by using interest rate swap arrangements. There were
no amounts outstanding under the revolving credit facllity at
December 31, 2003, while the balance on our synthetic lease
obligation at December 31, 2003 was $22.4 milion. We have
performed an interest rate sensitivity analysis assuming a 100
basis point increase in LIBOR for the period subsequent to
December 31, 2003 for our synthetic lease obligation and the
increase in interest expense would not be material.

Foreign currency exchange rates. Approximately 15.5 percent
of our consolidated revenues for the year ended December 31,
2003 and 35.9 percent of our consolidated assets at December
31, 2003 are associated with operations outside of the U.S. The
U.S. dollar balance sheets and statements of income for these
businesses are subject to currency fluctuations. We are most
vulnerable to fluctuations in the Brazilian real and the British
pound against the U.S. dollar. Historically, we have not entered
into derivative financial instruments to mitigate this risk, as it has
not been cost-effective. The impact of currency fluctuations on
profitability has not been significant since both revenues and
operating costs of these businesses are denominated in local
currency. If the U.S. dollar had a 10 percent higher appreciation
against our non-U.S. dollar denominated businesses in 2003,
consolidated revenues and operating income would have been
reduced by $15.6 million and $0.6 million, respectively. We may
use derivative financial instruments in the future if we deem them
useful in mitigating an exposure to foreign currency exchange
rates. The cumulative translation adjustment, largely related to
our investment in our Brazilian card prccessing operation, was a
$75.1 million and $113.4 million reduction of shareholders’ equity
at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis, and other portions
of this annual report, include forward-looking statements that
are based on current expectations, assumptions, estimates,
and projections about Certegy and our industry. They are not
guarantees of future performance and are subject to risks and

uncertainties, many of which are outside of Certegy's control,

that may cause actual results to differ significantly from what is
expressed in those statements. The factors that could, either
individually or in the aggregate, affect our performance include
the following, which are described in greater detail in the section
entitled “Certain Factors Affecting Forward-Looking Statements”
in our 2003 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on February 17,
2004, with the SEC: our reliance on a small number of financial
industries for the majority of our revenues; our reliance on key
strategic relationships; the necessity to maintain qualifications

set by bank card associations in order to continue to provide
transaction processing services; potential liability when merchant
customers cannot or do not reimburse us for charge-backs
resolved in favor of cardholders, or when checks we guarantee
are dishonored by the check writer’s bank; potential loss of
customers from continued consolidation in the financial services
and in retail industries; changes in regulation or industry standards
applicable to our businesses or those of our customers; the level
of economic growth or other factors affecting demand for our
products and services; ability to maintain or improve our competi-
tive positions against current and potential competitors; database
security and reliability of our information technology systems; risks
associated with investments and operations in foreign countries,
including exchange rate fluctuations and local political, social,

and economic factors; and those other risks listed in the above-
referenced section of our Form 10-K.
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(In thousands, except per share amounts)
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" Consolidated Statements of Income

Year Ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001
Revenues (Note 2) | $1,015,464 $1,007,968 $ 935,971
Operating expenses:

Costs of services (Note 2) 732,762 731,805 686,588

Selling, general a‘nd administrative 116,099 111,984 97,964

Other (Note 3) | 12,203 12,230 —

| 861,064 856,019 784,552

Operating income | 154,400 151,949 151,419
Other income, net { 2,339 1,119 78
Interest expense | (7,950) (7,120) (7,200)
Income before inco;me taxes, minority interests,

and cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle 148,789 145,948 144,297
Provision for income taxes (55,052) (55,964) (56,276)
Minority interests in“ earnings, net of tax —_ — (945)
Income before cum:ulative effect of a change in accounting principle 93,737 89,984 87,076
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle,

net of $832 incomme tax benefit (Note 2) (1,335} — —
Net income $ 92402 $ 89,984 $ 87,076
Basic earnings per‘share (Note 2):

Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ 1.44 $ 1.32 $ 1.27

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle (0.02) — —

Netincome | $ 142 $ 1.32 $ 1.27

Average shares outstanding 65,094 68,254 68,317
Diluted earnings per share (Note 2):

Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ 1.42 $ 1.30 $ 1.26

Cumulative effec}t of a change in accounting principle (0.02) — —

Netincome | $ 140 $ 1.30 $ 1.26

Average shares butstanding 65,870 £9,033 69,083
Dividends declared per share of common stock $ 0.10 $ — $ —

. | . , ' .
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except par values)

December 31, 2003 2002
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 22,280 $ 14,168
Settlement deposits 29,638 27,104
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,883
and $2,628 in 2003 and 2002, respectively 108,158 104,597
Settlement receivables 65,172 78,636
Claims recoverable 46,478 50,309
Other current assets (Note 2) 49,902 37,188
Total current assets 321,628 312,000
Property and equipment, net (Note 2) 58,897 38,637
Goodwill, net (Note 2} 187,627 168,956
Other intangible assets, net (Note 2) 31,799 31,342
Systems development and other deferred costs, net 118,788 96,706
Other assets, net (Note 2) 66,308 54,500
Total assets $ 785,047 $ 702,141

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:

Trade accounts payable $ 22,280 $ 22916
Settlement payables 94,810 105,740
Claims payable 38,270 48,306
Accrued salaries and bonuses 12,324 10,639
Income taxes payable 8,887 8,545
Other current liabilities (Note 2) 67,522 54,784
Total current liabilities 244,093 250,930
Long-term debt (Note 6) 222,399 214,200
Deferred income taxes (Note 7) 43,939 32,801
Other long-term liabilities 13,477 5,767
Total liabilities 523,908 503,698

Commitments and contingencies (Note 10)
Shareholders' equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000 shares authorized;
none issued and outstanding — —

Common stock, $0.01 par value: 300,000 shares authorized; 69,507 shares issued

and 64,352 and 66,396 shares outstanding in 2003 and 2002, respectively 695 695
Paid-in capital 249,351 249,115
Retained earnings 226,495 140,552
Deferred compensation (10,187) (8,116)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss : (75,854) (114,799)
Treasury stock, at cost; 5,155 and 3,111 shares in 2003 and 2002, respectively (129,361) (68,004)

Total shareholders’ equity 261,139 198,443
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 785,047 $ 702,141

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2003 Annual Report  37.




Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
o (In thousands)

Year Ended December 31, 2003 2002 2001

Cash flows from T)perating activities:
Net income | $ 92402 $ 89,984 $ 87,076

Adjustments to reconc;le net income to net cash

provided by operatlng activities:
|

Depreciation and amortization ] 42,030 39,050 45,677
Amortization o‘f deferred compensation and financing costs 5,438 5,069 1,474
Income tax be“neﬁt from exercise of stock options 1,298 3,772 729
Cumulative eﬁéct of a change in accounting principle 1,335 — —
Other non—cash items 5,045 4,957 945
Deferred income taxes 13,602 6,849 8,771
Changes in as'}s,ets and liabilities, excluding effects of acquisitions:
Accounts re:ceivable, net (2,954) (5,450) (5,659)
Current liabilities, excluding settlement and claims payables (3,554) (5,885) 8,478
Claims acco‘unts, net (5,092) (2,031) (2,990)
Other curren}t assets (2,077) (3,660) (1,657)
Other Iong-t‘erm liabilities (141) (279} 3,710
Other asseté (9,236) (5,721) (12,638)
138,096 126,655 131,916
Settlement accounts, net — — (29,040)
Net cash provided by operating activities 138,096 126,655 102,876
Cash flows from fnvesting activities:
Capital expenditL‘ res (43,955) (48,961) (49,349)
Acquisitions, net|of cash acquired (4,521) (10,433) (79,038)
Net cash used in investing activities (48,476) (59,394) (128,387)
Cash flows from 1‘inancing activities:
Net repayments to Equifax - — (206,648)
Net (repayments |of) additions to long-term debt (214,200) (15,800) 230,000
Proceeds from ngte issuance, net of discount and payment
of debt issuance costs 196,130 — —
Treasury stock p urchases (73,550) (79,554) (2,353)
Dividends paid (3,242) — —
Proceeds from e>‘<erC|se of stock options 5,502 15,935 3,892
Other | (32) (359) (122)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities (89,392) (79,778) 24,871
Effect of foreign cugrency exchange rates on cash 7,886 (991) (1,480)
Net cash provided {used) 8,114 (13,508) {2,120)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 14,166 27,674 29,794
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 22,280 $ 14,166 $ 27674

The accompanying nore‘s are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

(In thousands)

Accumulated
Equifax Deferred Other Total Compre-
Shares Equity Common Paid-In Retained Compen- Comprehensive Treasury  Shareholders’  hensive
Qutstanding  Investment Stock Capital Earnings sation Loss Stock Equity Income
Balance, December 31, 2000 $380,906 $ — 3 - 3 — 8 — $(57288) $ — $323,618 $ 79,636
2001 changes:
Net income 36,508 50,568 87,076 $ 87,076
Foreign currency translation
adjustment (10,323) (10,323)  (10,3293)
Net transactions with Equifax 83,678 83,678
Distribution 68,600 (501,092) 686 225,406 . (275,000)
Restricted stock issued 133 1 4,326 (4,327) —
Treasury stock purchased 81) (2,353) (2,353)
Stock options exercised 184 1 1,638 2,353 3,992
Income tax berefit from
stock options 729 729
Amortization of deferred
compensation 676 676
Cash flow hedging activities,
net of tax benefit of $146 (228) (228) (228)
Balance, December 31, 2001 68,836 — 688 232,099 50,568 (3,651)  (67,839) — 211,865 § 76,525
2002 changes: -
Net income 89,984 89,084 § 89,984
Foreign currency translation
adjustment (45,787) (45,787)  (45,787)
Restricted stock issued,
net of cancellations 264 ) 2 7,286 {9,0586) 1,578 (180)
Treasury stock purchased (3,407) (70,554)  (79,554)
Stock options exercised 703 5 5,058 9,972 15,935
Income tax benefit from
stock options 3,772 3,772
Amortization of deferred
compensation 3,591 3,591
Cash flow hedging activities,
net of tax benefit of $849 (1,173) (1,173 (1,173}
Balance, December 31, 2002 66,396 — 695 249,115 140,552 (8,116) (114,799) (68,004) 198,443 § 43,024
2003 changes:
Net income 92,402 92,402 $ 92,402
Foreign currency translation
adjustment 38,291 38,291 38,291
Restricted stock issued 210 226 (5,629) 5,403 —_
Treasury stock purchased (2,552) (73,550) (73,550)
Dividends declared {6,459) (6,459)
Stock options exercised 298 (1,288) 6,790 5,502
Income tax benefit from
stock options 1,298 : 1,298
Amortization of deferred
compensation 4,558 4,558
Cash flow hedging activities,
net of taxes of $417 654 654 654
Balance, December 31, 2003 64,352 $ — $ 695 $249,351 $226,495 $(10,187) $(75,854) $(129,361) $261,139 $131,347

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTE 1 - SPIN-OFF AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION
In October 2000, the
announced its intent to spin off its Payment Services division,

subject to certain coqditions, into a separate publicly traded

Board of Directors of Equifax Inc. (“*Equifax”)

company with its owrh management and Board of Directors (the
“Distribution”). This Di:stribution occurred on July 7, 2001 (the
“Distribution Date”) ariwd was accomplished by consolfidating all
of the assets and Hab‘ilities of the businesses that comprised the
Payment Services division into Certegy Inc. (“Certegy” or the
“Company”) and then} distributing all of the outstanding shares
of Certegy common stock to Equifax sharehaolders. (The term

“Company” is also us‘ed to refer to the Equifax Payment Services
division prior to the Distribution.) The Equifax shareholders
received one share of‘ Certegy common stock for every two
shares of Equitax common stock heid as of the Distribution Date.
In conjunction with thje Distribution, Certegy made a cash payment
to Equifax in the amobnt of $275 million to reflect Certegy’s share
of Equifax's pre-distrik}Jution debt used to establish the Company’s
initial capitalization. TF‘ﬂs was funded through $400 million of
unsecured revolving credit facilities obtained by Certegy in July
2001, Certegy was inicorporated on March 2, 2001, under the
name Equifax PS, lnc‘., as a wholly owned subsidiary of Equifax.
Certegy did not have lany operations, assets, or liabilities until
the contribution by Eduifax to Certegy of the Payment Services
division prior to the Di}stribution,

|
The Company providés credit and debit card processing and
check risk managemént services to financial institutions and
merchants in the U.S.i and internationally through two segments,
Card Services and Check Services (see Note 12 for segment
information). Card Ser}vices provides card issuer services in the
U.S., the U.K., Brazil, [Chile, Australia, New Zealand, Ireland,
Thailand, and the Dor:ninican Republic. Additionally, Card Services
provides merchant pr¢cessing and e-banking services in the U.S.
and card issuer softw%are, support, and consulting services in
numerous countries. Check Services provides check risk manage-

ment services and related processing services in the U.S., the

U.K., Canada, France, Ireland, Australia, and New Zealand.

The accompanying consclidated financial statements include the
accounts of the Company and its majority-owned subsidiaries.
Prior to the Distribution Date, the financial statements include the

accounts of the Equifax businesses that comprised its Payment

| . Notes to Consolidated
| -. Financial Statements

Services division. All significant intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated. Certain prior year amounts have
been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on

the historical cost basis in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the U.S. ("GAAP"), and present the
Company’s financial position, results of operations, and cash
flows. Through the Distribution Date, these amounts were derived
from Equifax’s histerical financial statements. As further described
in Note 5, certain Equifax corporate expenses were aliocated to
the Company through the Distribution Date. These allocations
were based on an estimate of the proportion of corporate expenses
allocable to the Company, utilizing such factors as revenues,
number of employees, and other relevant factors. In the opinion
of management, these allocations were made on a reasonable
basis; however, the costs of these services charged to the
Company may not reflect the actual costs the Company would
have incurred for similar services had it been operating as a stand-
alone company. The consolidated financial statements do not
include any allocation of Equifax corporate debt or related interest
expense, as historically, these amounts were not allocated to

the operating divisions by Equifax.

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates. The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions affect

the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure

of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, as well as reported amounts of revenues and
expenses during the reporting periods. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

Revenue Recognition. The Company recognizes revenues from

its credit and debit card processing and related services based on
a specified amount per account, per card, or per transaction when
processed or as services are rendered.

Within the card merchant processing business, the Company
provides a range of processing services, including authorizing
card transactions at the point-of-sale, capturing and transmitting
data affecting settlement of payments, and assisting merchants in
resolving billing disputes with their customers. Revenues for card




merchant processing services are recognized in the period the
transactions are processed or when the services are performed,
based on a percentage of the gross amount charged. The
Company contracts directly with merchants, as well as with the
merchants’ financial institutions. When the Company has a direct
relationship with the merchant, revenues collected for services
are based primarily on a discount rate, which considers the cost
of interchange fees, which are processing fees paid to credit
card associations. When the Company’s relationship is with the
merchant’s financial institution, it collects the interchange fees

in addition to transaction fees. In both instances, the Company
is responsible for collecting the interchange fees after settling
with the credit card associations. Interchange fees, which are
recorded as a component of revenues and costs of services,
were $133.0 million, $162.6 milion, and $1486.1 million in 2003,
2002, and 2001, respectively.

Check guarantee is the process of electronically authorizing a
check being presented to the Company’s merchant customer,
through an extensive database, and guaranteeing the face value
of the check to the merchant customer. Revenues for check
guarantee services are based on a percentage of the face value
of each guaranteed check and are recognized when'the obliga-
tions to the merchant customer are fulfiled. Check verification
services are similar to check guarantee services, except the
Company does not guarantee the verified checks, and the risk
of loss is retained by the merchant customer. Revenues for check
verification services are based on a fixed amount per check and
are recognized when the checks are verified.

The Company licenses card issuer software products that allow
customers to manage their credit card programs. These products
include a complete suite of UNIX and mainframe credit card
issuing and acquiring software. Software license revenugs are
recognized in accordance with Statement of Position 97-2,
“Software Revenue Recognition.” In certain software arrange-
ments, the Company provides consulting services, which include
implementation and upgrades to the existing base software. For
license sales that do not include consulting services, and where
the license fee is fixed and determinable, collectibility is probable,
and evidence of an arrangement exists, revenue is recognized
when delivery has occurred. For professional services related to
card issuer software and for licenses that include consulting or
processing services, revenue Is recognized over the period the
services are performed. Card issuer software maintenance and
support revenues are recognized over the term of the contract
or as services are performed.

The collection of fees for services or products pricr to the period
such services or products are provided to customers are deferred
and recognized over the period such services are provided or as
products are delivered.

In January 2002, the Company adopted Emerging Issues Task
Force Issue No. 01-14, "Income Statement Characterization of
Reimbursements Received for ‘Out-of-Pocket’ Expenses Incurred”
(“EITF 01-14"), which requires that reimbursements received for
out-of-pocket expenses be classified as revenues. Historically,
such reimbursements have been netted against costs of services
in the consolidated statements of income. As a result of this
required adoption and certain similar reclassifications, actual
revenues, as previously reperted for the year ended December 31,
2001 have increased by $84.8 million for reimbursed out-of-
pocket expenses that include postage, delivery, telecommunication,
and other costs.

Reserve for Card Merchant Processing and Check
Guarantee Losses. In the Company’s direct card merchant
processing business, if, due to the insolvency or bankruptcy of
the merchant or other reasons, the Company is not able to collect
amounts from its merchant customers that have been properly
“charged back” by the cardholders, it must bear the credit risk

for the full amount of the cardholder transaction. The Company
requires cash deposits and other types of collateral from certain
merchants to minimize any such risk. In addition, the Company
utilizes a number of systems and procedures to manage merchant
risk and believes that the diversification of its merchant portfolio
among industries and geographic regions minimizes its risk of
loss. The Company recognizes a reserve for estimated merchant
credit losses based on historical experience and other relevant
factors. This reserve amount is subject to risk that actual losses
may be greater than the Company’s estimates. At December 31,
20083 and 2002, the Company had aggregate card merchant
procassing loss reserves of $1.1 million and $1.0 million, respec-
tively, which are included in other current liabilities in the
consolidated balance shests.

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 45,
“Guarantor’s Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for
Guarantees, Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness of
Others” (“FIN 457), which requires the recognition of a liability for
the amount of the fair value of a guarantee. A liability is required

to be maintained until the settlement or expiration of the guarantee
for transactions occurring after December 31, 2002. The adoption
of FIN 45 did not have a material impact on the Company’s card
merchant processing business, as based on historical experience,
ongoing credit risk assessments, and the collateral held, the fair
value of the Company’s guarantee for merchant chargebacks
approximates the credit loss reserves.

In the Company’s check guarantee business, if & guaranteed
check presented to a merchant customer is dishonored by
the check writer's bank, the Company reimburses its merchant
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customer for the cheék’s face value and pursues collection of
the amount from the delinquent check writer. The Company’s
merchant customers have approximately 60 days from the check
date to present claims for dishonored checks tc the Company.
The Company has a maximum potential liability equal to the value
of all checks presentt%d to its merchant customers; however,
through historical experience and analysis, the Company is able
to reasonably estimaye its liabllity for check returns. The Company
recognizes a liability tp its merchant customers for estimated
check returns (claims|payable) and a receivable for amounts the
Company estimates it will recover from the check writers (claims
recoverable), based an historical experience and other relevant
factors. The estimated check returns and recovery amounts are
subject to risk that ac;tual amounts returned and recovered may
be different than the q:ompany’s estimates. At December 31, 2003
and 2002, the Company had accrued claims payable and accrued
claims recoverable ba}lances of $38.3 million and $46.5 million,
and $48.3 million and $50.3 miliion, respectively.

As a result of FIN 45,
tions occurring after December 31, 2002, the Company is required

with regards to check guarantee transac-

to maintain a liability for each guaranteed check equal to the

fair vaiue of the guara}ntee, until the settlement or expiration of
the guarantee. As the\‘ Company was already applying similar
accounting policies fdr the recognition of its guarantee obligations
and related revenue, tihe adoption of FIN 45 did not have a

material impact on the Company's check guarantee business.

The Company settles|its claim obligations with merchants on
average within 14 day‘s. Recoverability of claims from the check
writers extends beyon}d this timeframe, but generally occurs
within a one-year time%frame.

Expenses of $152.9 r%illion, $146.1 million, and $128.7 million,
respectively, were reoc‘xded in costs of services for the years
ended December 31,2003, 2002, and 2001, for card merchant
processing losses and check guarantee losses, net of anticipated
recoveries. Amounts v:vritterw off, or in the case of check guarantee
losses, the amounts p:aid to the Company’s merchant customers,
net of amounts recovered from check writers, were $158.9 million,
$1583.0 million, and $130.7 million, respectively, for the years

ended December 31, {2003, 2002, and 2001.

Other Charges. It is t‘he Company’s policy to present other
charges, such as severance, impairment, or restructuring, if
significant for a given reporting period, on a separate line item
within operating experrses in the consolidated statements of
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income. In the normal course of business, it is not unusual for
the Company to have ongoing severance charges that are not
significant and therefore not presented separately in the conscli-
dated statements of income.

Stock Based Compensation. As permitted by Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123", as amended by SFAS
No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition
and Disclosure” (“SFAS 148", the Company continues to account
for stock based employee compensation plans under Accounting
Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (“APB 25").

Earnings Per Share. Basic earnings per share ("EPS") is
calculated by dividing net income by the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding during the period.

Prior to the commencement of public trading on July 9, 2001,
weighted-average shares outstanding were computed by applying
the distribution ratio of 0.5 shares of Certegy common stock to
the historical Equifax weighted-average shares outstanding for
the same periods presented.

Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that would occur if stock
options or other contracts to issue common stock were exercised
and resulted in additional common shares outstanding during the
period. Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding in 2003 and
2002 excludes approximately 2.0 million and 1.4 million weighted-
average shares, respectively, since these shares were antidilutive.
As there were no historical market share prices for Certegy’s
common stock prior to July 9, 2001, the effect of dilutive stock
options for periods prior to the Distribution Date were estimated
based on the dilutive amounts for the third quarter of 2001.
Restricted stock was not issued until after the Distribution Date.

A reconciliation of the average outstanding shares used in
the basic and diluted EPS calculations for the years ended
December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001 is as follows:

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Weighted-average shares

outstanding (basic) 65,094 68,254 68,317
Effect of dilutive securities:

Stock options 479 721 718

Restricted stock 297 58 28
Weighted-average shares

outstanding (diluted) 65,870 69,033 69,063




Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include
cash on hand and all liquid investments with an initial maturity of
three months or less when purchased.

Settlement Deposits, Receivables, and Payables. Settlement
receivables and payables result from timing differences in the
Company’s settlement process with merchants, financial institu-
tions, and credit card associations related to merchant and card
transaction processing and third-party check collections. Cash
held by the Company associated with this settlement process

is classified as settlement deposits in the consolidated balance
sheets. Net cash provided by operating activities for 2001 was
reduced by $29.0 million related to the timing of such settlements,
as prior to the Distribution, settlement deposits were held by
Equifax and included in the intercompany receivable from Equifax,
a component of the Equifax equity investment.

The Company has an unsecured revolving credit facility that it
uses to finance its customers’ shortfalls in the daily funding
requirements associated with the Company’s credit and debit
card settlement operations. Amounts borrowed are typically
repaid within one to two business days, as customers fund the
shortfalls. The credit agreement provides the Company with the
option to select an interest rate for borrowings under this facility
tied to the prime rate, LIBOR plus 100 basis points, or the federal
funds rate plus 125 basis points. The credit agreement containg
various covenants and restrictions, including, among other things,
limitations on the ability to incur subsidiary indebtedness, to grant
liens, to undertake certain mergers, to liquidate, to make certain
investments and acquisitions, to pay dividends and redeem
shares, and to dispose of certain assets. The terms of the credit
agreement also require the Company to maintain certain leverage
and fixed charge coverage ratios. The borrowings under this
facility, which have not been guaranteed by any of the Company’s
subsidiaries, are unsecured and rank on parity in right of payment
with all other unsecured and unsubordinated indebtedness from
time to time outstanding. This facility has a term of 364 days and
upon renewal of this facility in June 2003, the Company lowered
the borrowing amount from $130 million to $100 million. Amounts
may be repaid at any time within this term. There wers no amounts
outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2003 or 2002,

Trade Accounts Receivable. The Company’s provisions for
losses on trade accounts receivable were $2.0 million, $1.7
million, and $1.3 million, respectively, and write-offs, net of
recoveries, were $2.8 million, $1.6 million, and $0.9 million,
respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002,
and 2001.

Other Current Assets. The Company's other current assets
at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consist of the following:

(In thousands) 2003 2002
Other receivables $ 26,907 $ 14,916
Prepaid expenses 11,658 10,166
Current deferred income taxes (Note 7) 1,933 5,570
Inventories and supplies 1,889 1,822
Other current assets 7,515 4,714

$ 49902 $ 37,188

Property and Equipment. The cost of property and equipment
Is depreciated on a straight-line basis over estimated useful lives
as follows: building—40 years; leasehold improvements—not to
exceed lease terms; data processing equipment—3 to 5 years;
and furniture and fixtures—3 to 8 years. Maintenance and repairs
are charged to expense as incurred.

Property and equipment at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consist
of the following:

(In thousands) 2003 2002
Land $ 1500 3 —
Building and improvements 37,794 13,300
Data processing equipment and furniture 114,316 102,003

153,610 115,303
Less accumulated depreciation (©4,713) (76,666)

$ 58,807 $ 38,637

Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equip-
ment was $16.8 million in 2003, $15.3 million in 2002, and $13.8
million in 2001.

Equipment under capital lease, which is included in data process-
ing equipment and furniture above, was $0.6 million at December
31, 2008. Accumulated depreciation related to these assets
totaled approximately $44 thousand at December 31, 2003,
There were no assets under capital lease at December 31, 2002.

In December 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46 (revised
2003), “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, an Interpretation
of Accounting Research Bulletin No. 51" (“FIN 46”). FIN 46
requires the consolidation of variable interest entities in which

an enterprise absorbs a majority of the entity’s expected losses,
receives a mejority of the entity’s expected residual returns,

or both, as a result of ownership, contractual or other financial
interests in the entity.
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The Company is the tt}anant of certain real property located in St.
Petersburg, Florida, (the “Leased Property”) pursuant to the terms
of a synthetic lease ag‘;reement dated December 30, 1999 (the
“Synthetic Lease”) wit;h an uncensolidated variable interest entity
(the “VIE"), as landlord. The term of the Synthetic Lease expires
on May 29, 2008 but can be renewed through May 30, 2014. In
order to acquire the L‘eased Property, third parties have invested
capital at risk equal to 3.5% of the assets of the VIE with the
remainder being ﬁnaw;ed through a debt obligation of the VIE.
This, and certain other criteria, allowed the Company to not
consolidate the VIE in|the Company’s financial statements prior
to adopting FIN 46. Rather, the Company accounted for the
arrangement as an op‘erating lease. Accordingly, neither the
leased facility nor the Trelated debt was recorded in the Company’s
accompanying consoiidated balance sheets. Upon notice to the
VIE and the satisfactic:)n of certain other conditions, the Company
has the opticn to puréhase the Leased Property at its original

cost or to direct the s:ale of the facility to a third party.

Upon adoption of cer“rain provisions of FIN 46 on December 31,
2003, the Company c}onsolidated the VIE and recorded a
cumulative effect of accounting change expense of $1.3 million
after-tax, or $0.02 per; diluted share. Upon consolidation of the
VIE, property and eqdipment increased by $21.0 million, which
is net of accumulated depreciation of $2.2 million; long-term
notes payable increas‘ed by $22.4 million; deferred income tax
assets increased $0.8 million; and a minority interest liability of
$0.8 million was reco ‘ded, which is included in other long-term

liabllities in the consolidated balance shest.

The effect on diluted EPS would have been less than $0.01 in
2008, 2002, and 2001 if FIN 46 had been adopted as of the
beginning of 2001.

Goodwill. The Company adopted SFAS No. 142, "Goodwill and
Other Intangible Asse‘ts” (“SFAS 142", effective January 1, 2002
for acquisitions that occurred prior to June 30, 2001. Accordingly,

the amortization of gqodwill ceased on January 1, 2002. SFAS

142 prescribes the method for determining goodwill impairment,

First, a determination
|
made using expecteq future discounted cash flows. If the net

of the fair value of the reporting units is

book value of the rep%omng unit exceeds the fair value, an
allocation of the reporting unit's fair vaiue to all of its assets and
liabilities in a manner similar to purchase price allocation is made,
with any residual fair value being allocated to goodwill. The fair
value of the goodwill i/s then compared to its carrying amount to
determine impairment. An impairment charge is recognized only
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when the implied fair value of a reporting unit, including goodwill,
is less than its carrying amount. During 2003, the Company
completed its annual fair value-based impairment test, which
resulted in no impairment losses being recorded. The Company
will continue to evaluate goodwill for impairment, at least annually,
in accordance with SFAS 142.

Gooadwill by segment, net of accumulated amortization at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 recorded prior to the adoption
of SFAS 142, is as follows:

(In thousands) 2003 2002
Card Services $ 157,968 $ 140,644
Check Services 29,659 28,312

$ 187,627 $ 168,956

The change in the carrying amount of goodwill from December 31,
2002 to December 31, 2003 was primarily the result of currency
translation adjustments.

Adoption of the non-amortization provisions of SFAS 142 as

of January 1, 2001 would have increased net income for the
year ended December 31, 2001 by $7.3 million, which is net of
$1.3 million of income taxes, or $0.10 per diluted share.

Other Intangible Assets. The Company’s acquired intangible
assets subject to amortization at December 31, 2003 and 2002
are as foliows:

2003 2002
Gross Gross
Carrying Accumulated Carrying  Accumulated
(In thousands) Amount  Amortization Amount  Amortization
Merchant portfolios $28,729 $ 7,262 $24,000 $ 4,833
Other 12,996 2,664 12,840 665
$ 41,725 $ 9,926 $36,840 $ 5,498
Net book value $ 31,799 $ 31,342

During 2003, the Company acquired a merchant portfolio at a
purchase price of $4.5 million in cash, which is being amortized
on a straight-line basis over seven years.

The Company’s other intangible assets consist of data files,
customer lists, technology, and other acquired customer con-
tracts, which are amortized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, which range from 5 to 15 years. Amortiza-
tion expense associated with the Company’s acquired intangible
assets totaled $4.4 milion, $3.0 million, and $2.4 million for the

i
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years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.
During 2002, the Company recorded an impairment charge of
$4.2 milfion associated with an acquired contract due to the loss
of the customer in the Company’s Brazilian card operation

{Note 3). Estimated amortization expense for the Company’s
acquired intangible assets for each of the five succeeding fiscal
years is as follows: 2004 - $4.8 miflion; 2005 - $4.8 million;
2006 - $4.8 milion; 2007 — $4.8 million; and 2008 - $3.2 million.

The Company has no intangible assets with indefinite useful lives.

Systems Development, Other Deferred Costs and Other
Assets. The costs of internally developed systems used to
provide services to customers or for internal administrative
services and other deferred costs are capitalized and amortized
on a straight-line basis over five to eight years, as determined by
their estimated useful lives. Other assets principally consist of
prepaid pension cost, purchased software, and life insurance
policies. The costs of purchased software used to provide services
to customers or for internal administrative services are capitalized
and amortized on a straight-iine basis over five to eight years,

as determined by their estimated useful lives.

Other assets, net at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consist of
the following:

(In thousands) 2003 2002
Prepaid pension cost (Note 9) $ 19,428 $ 20,678
Purchased software 11,425 11,139
Cash surrender value of

life insurance policies 10,816 6,294
Deferred income taxes (Note 7) 6,691 4,244
SERP intangible asset (Note 9) 4,356 —
Other 13,592 12,145

$ 66308 $ 54,500

Amortization expense for systems development, other deferred
costs and other assets was $20.8 million in 2003, 2002, and
2001. As of December 31, 2003 and 2002, accumulated
amortization was $107.7 million and $84.6 million, respectively.

Other Current Liabilities. The Company's other current liabilities
at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consist of the following:

(In thousand's) 2003 2002

Accrued employee payroll taxes,

withholdings, and benefits $ 8211 $ 5147
Deferred revenue 8,833 6,288
Accrued interest 3,179 1,129
Other accrued expenses 19,320 20,550
Other current liabilities 27,979 21,670

$ 67,522 §$ 54,784

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss. Accumulated
other comprehensive loss at December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001
consists of the following components:

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Cumulative foreign currency

translation adjustment $ (75,107) $(113,398) $ (67,611)
Cumulative loss from cash

flow hedging activities (747) (1,401 (228)

$ (75,854) $(114,799) $ (67,839)

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. Long-fived assets include
property and equipment, other intangible assets, systems
development and other deferred costs, and other assets. In
accordance with SFAS No. 144, "Accounting for the impairment
or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS 144"), the Company
regularly evaluates whether events and circumstances have
occurred which indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived
assets may warrant revision or may not be recoverable. When
factors indicate that long-lived assets should be evaluated for
possible impairment, the Company uses an estimate of the future
undiscounted net cash flows of the related business over the
rernaining life of the asset in measuring whether the carrying
amount of the related asset is recoverable. To the extent these
projections indicate that future undiscounted net cash flows

are not sufficient to recover the carrying amounts of the related
assets, the underlying assets are written down by charges to
expense so that the carrying amount is equal to fair value,
primarily determined based on future discounted cash flows.

In the opinion of management, the Company's long-lived assets
are appropriately valued at December 31, 2003 and 2002.

Minority Interests. Minority interests in earnings of consolidated
subsidiaries represent the minority shareholders’ share of the
after-tax net income or loss of consolidated subsidiaries.

Foreign Currency Translation. The Company has foreign
subsidiaries whose functional currency is their local currency.
Gains and losses on transactions denominated in currencies
other than the functional currencies are inciuded in determining
net income for the period in which exchange rates change. The
assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries, including long-term
intercompany balances, are translated at the year-end rate of
exchange, and income statement items are translated at the
average rates prevailing during the year. The resulting translation
adjustment is recorded as a component of shareholders’ equity.
The effects of foreign currency gains and losses arising from these
translations of assets and liabilities are included as a component
of other comprehensive income.
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Supplemental Cash‘ Flow Information. Supplemental cash flow
disclosures for the yerr‘slrs ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and
2001 are as foliows:

{In thousands) 2003 2002 2001

Income taxes paid,

[

[
net of amounts refur}Lded $ 39,163 $ 46,169 $ 28,627

|

Interest paid $ 4536 $ 7,186 $ 5,138

Prior to the Distributio{n, cash paid for income taxes represented

only payments for foréign and certain state income taxes. Payments
for federal and unitary state income taxes were reflected as a
component of net tra%nsaotions with Equifax in the consolidated
financial statements. ;

Financial Instrume+ts. The Company considers the carrying
amounts of its financ"al instruments, including cash and cash
equivalents, receivables, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities
to approximate their fair market values due to their short maturity.
The fair value of the Cbompany’s long-term unsecured notes was
$207.9 million at December 31, 2003, compared to the carrying
amount of $199.4 m{(lion. The fair value was derived using the
discounted value of future cash flows using rates currently
available for notes wi:th similar terms. All other debt instruments at
December 31, 2003,“ approximated thelr fair values given the debt
arrangements have \“/ariable interest rates that reflect current terms
and conditions for siﬁilar debt. The carrying amount of long-term
debt approximated its fair value at December 31, 2002, given

that the debt arrangement, which consisted only of outstanding
borrowings on the QOmpany‘s $300 million revolving credit facility,
had variable interestjrates that reflected current terms and

conditions for similar‘ debt.

Effective January 1, !2001 , the Company adopted SFAS No. 133,
“Accounting for Deri‘(/ative Instruments and Hedging Activities”
(“SFAS 133"). SFASJ133 requires that a company recognize
derivatives as asset$ ar liabifities on its balance sheet, and also
requires that the gai:n or loss related to the effective portion of
derivatives designatéd as cash flow hedges be recorded as a
component of otherf comprehensive income. The Company has
an interest rate swab arrangement that, in effect, fixes the interest
rate for a related var‘iab[e rate lease obligation (Note 10). This
derivative has been (designated as a cash flow hedge, was
documented as qu;}/ effective, and at December 31, 2008 and
2002, was valued a;s a liability totaling $1.5 million and $1.8 million,
respectively. The notional amount of the debt underlying the swap

\
arrangement at the date of the transaction was $10.4 million.
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The value of this swap arrangement Is included in other current
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, and the related gains
or losses are recorded, net of income tax effects, as a component
of other comprehensive income.

NOTE 3 - OTHER CHARGES

During 2008, the Company recorded other charges of $12.2
million ($7.7 million after-tax). These charges include $3.6 million
of early termination costs associated with a U.S. data processing
contract, $2.7 million of charges related to the downsizing of the
Company's Brazilian card operation, and ($0.1) million of market
value recoveries on the Company’s collateral assignment in life
insurance policies (the carrying value of our collateral assignment
is the lesser of the policies' cash surrender value or the premiums
paid), net of severance charges. These charges were recorded in
accordance with SFAS No. 148, “Accounting for Costs Associated
with Exit or Disposal Activities,” and SFAS 144,

Early Termination Costs. In March 2003, the Company entered
into a ten-year agreement with IBM to provide data processing
services for its U.S. operations. The Company anticipates that this
agreement, which replaces an existing arrangement the Company
had with EDS, will provide cost savings and future operational
flexibility to the Company. The Company recorded a charge of
$9.6 miflion in March 2003 for early contract termination costs
under the terms of the existing EDS contract, which inciudes a
$6.7 million termination charge and $2.9 miltion for “wind-down"
costs payable to EDS related to the disposal or redeployment

of EDS equipment, the placement of EDS personnel, and the
termination of third-party agreements. Approximately $8.8 million
of this charge was recorded in Card Services, while the remaining
$0.8 million was recorded in Check Services. The conversion to
IBM was completed during the third quarter of 2003.

Downsizing of Brazilian Card Operation. Due to the loss of a
large customer in the Company’s Brazilian card operation, which
deconverted its card portfolio at the beginning of March 2003, and
the continued focus on attaining cost efficiencies, the Company
downsized its Brazilian card operation during the first quarter of
2003. In conjunction with this downsizing, the Company recorded
charges of $2.7 million, which included severance charges of
approximately $0.7 milion, a $0.2 million charge for third-party
contract termination costs, and $1.8 million of asset impairment
charges related to equipment and capitalized software develop-
ment costs. The impairment resulted from the downsizing of the
operation and management’s strategic focus away from certain
development models in order to attain cngoing cost efficiencies
in its operations.




The following table summarizes the contract termination costs
and severance charges incurred to date as described above, the
movement in the accruals as of and for the year ended December
31, 20083, and the ending balances in the accruals:

Costs Accrual,
incurred Payments December 31,
to Date tc Date 2003
Contract terminationcosts  § 9,804 § (9,674) 3 130
Severance charges 3810 (841) 69

$ 10,714 § (10,515) $ 199

During 2002, the Company recorded other charges of $12.2
million ($7.7 million after-tax). These charges include an impair-
ment write-off of $4.2 million for the remaining intangible asset
value assigned to an acquired customer contract in the Compa-
ny's Brazilian card operation, due to the loss of the customer; a
$4.0 million charge for the settlement of a class action lawsuit,
net of insurance proceeds (see Note 10); and $4.0 million of
severance charges and market value losses on the Company’s
collateral assignment in life insurance policies. Al of the 2002
severance and legal settlement charges were paid as of
December 31, 20083.

NOTE 4 - ACQUISITIONS

During 2003, the Company acquired a merchant portfolio for
$4.5 million in cash, which is being amortized on a straight-line
basis over seven years.

During 2002 and 2001, the Company acquired or increased
its ownership in the following businesses:

Date Industry Percentage
Business Acquired Segment Ownership
Netzesg, Inc. (U.S) December 2002 Card Services  100.0%

Accu Chek, Inc. (U.S))  August 2001
Unnisa Ltda. (Brazil) May 2001

Check Services 100.0%
Card Services  100.0%™

(1) Increased ownership from 59.3 percent acquired in 1998 to 100 percent
in 2001.

On December 31, 2002, the Company completed the purchase
of substantially all of the assets and liabilities of Netzee, Inc., a
provider of Internet banking preducts and e-commerce solutions
to community banks and credit unions, for $10.4 miliion in cash.
Approximately $2.6 million of the purchase price was allocated to
acquired net assets, while $7.8 million was allocated to acquired
technology and customer contracts. These intangible assets will
be amortized over an average of five years. Pro forma results of
operations have not been presented for this acquisition because
the effect of the transaction was not material to the consolidated
financial statements.

In May 2001, the Company increased its ownership in Unnisa
Ltda. (“Unnisa”), a card processing business in Brazil, from 59.3
percent to 100 percent. In August 2001, the Company acquired

Accu Chek, Inc. (“Accu Chek”), a leading provider of third-party
check collection services. These acquisitions had an aggregate
cash purchase price of $79.0 million, net of cash acquired, with
$58.1 million allocated to goodwill, $12.1 miflion allocated to other
intangibles, including data files and customer lists, $4.0 million
allocated to other current and long-term assets, $1.0 million

of assumed liabilities, and $5.8 million for the elimination of the
minority interest liability. If these acquisitions had occurred as of
the beginning of 2001, the unaudited pro forma revenues, net
income, and diluted EPS of the Company would have been
$941.0 million, $87.3 million, and $1.26, respectively in 2001.

The above acquisitions were accounted for as purchases and
their results of operations have been included in the consolidated
statements of income from the dates of acquisition. The pro forma
information included in this note is based on historical results of
the separate companies and may not necessarily be indicative of
the results that would have been achieved or of results that may
occur in the future.

NOTE 5 - TRANSACTIONS WITH EQUIFAX

Prior to the Distribution, the Company advanced excess cash

to Equifax under Equifax's centralized cash management system,
There were no other material intercompany purchase or sale
transactions between Equifax and the Company through the
Distribution Date.

The Company was charged with incremental corporate costs
through the Distribution Date in the amount of $6.3 million in 2001,
Approximately $1.9 million of this amount was allocated to the
Company's two operating segments. The Equifax allocations were
based on an estimate of the proportion of corporate expenses
related to the Company, utilizing such facters as revenues, number
of employees, and other relevant factors. Management believes
that, had the Company been operating on a full year stand-alone
basis, it would have incurred additional expenses of approximately
$3.2 million in 2001, which specifically relate to incremental
pension expense, insurance costs, corporate headquarters rent,
and stand-alone public company costs for audit, director, and
stock exchange fees. Management believes that all other costs
allocated to the Company are a reasonable representation of

the costs that would have been incurred if the Company had
performed these functions as a stand-alone company.

In conjunction with the Distribution, the Company and Equifax
entered into various agreements that addressed the allocation
of assets and liabilities between them and that defined their
relationship after the Distribution, including the distribution
agreement, the tax sharing and indemnification agreement, the
employee benefits agreement, the intercompany data purchase
agreement, the intellectual property agreement, and the transition
support agreement.
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NOTE 6 - LONG-TERM DEBT
Long-term debt at December 31, 2003 and 2002 consists of
the following:

(In thousands) 2003 2002

Unsecured notes, 4.7‘5%,
due 2008, net of unamortized

discount of $0.6 million in 2003 $199,420 3 —
Borrowings under revolving credit facility —_ 214,200
Notes payable, 1.76%, due 2009 22,364 —
Capital lease obligations 615 —
$ 222,399 $ 214,200

Unsecured Notes. [n September 2003, the Company completed
its offering of $200 million (aggregate principal amount) of unse-
cured 4.75% fixed-rate notes due in 2008. The notes rank equally
with all of the Company's existing and future unsecured, unsubor-
dinated indebtedneés from time to time outstanding. The notes
were sold at a disco‘unt of $0.6 million, which along with related
note issuance costs}, will be amortized over the term of the notes.
The Company used ithe net proceeds from the offering to pay off
the outstanding indébtedness under its $300 million revolving
credit facility and for‘general corporate purposes. The notes will
accrue interest from|September 10, 2003 at a rate of 4.75% per
year, payable semi-annually in arrears on each March 15 and

September 15, begi‘nning March 15, 2004.

Revolving Credit F;acilities. On July 8, 2001, the Company
entered Into an amended and restated revolving credit agreement
with a group of com}merciar banks. The credit agreement initially
provided for an aggr“egate'of $400 million in borrowings, consisting
of a $100 millicn 364-day facility and a three-year $300 million
facility. In June 2003} the Company signed an extension of the
$300 million multi-year facility, extending that facility through June
2005. The Company, did not renew the $100 million 364-day
facility upon its expir%altion in 2002. The $300 million facility bore
interest at an annual!rate of LIBOR plus 100 basis points and
contained certain financial covenants related to interest coverage

and funded debt to clzash flow. Borrowings under this facility were

guaranteed by the C‘ompany’s subsidiaries. Borrowings were
made on this facility in 2001 to fund a $275 million payment to

Equifax in conjunctio"‘n with the Distribution. It was also used to
meet working capital and acquisition needs through 2003,

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Outstanding amounts were due upon the expiration date of
the facility in June 2005. The Company had $214.2 million
outstanding under this facility at December 31, 2002, which
was repaid in 2003 with the proceeds from the issuance of the
Company’s unsecured five-year notes.

In September 2003, the Company cancelled its $300 million
revolving credit facility and replaced it with a new $200 million
revolving credit facility, which expires in September 20086. The
new facility has substantially the same terms as the former facility,
except there are no subsidiary guarantees. The new facility bears
interest at an annual rate of LIBOR plus 100 basis points and
contains certain financial covenants related to interest coverage
and funded debt to cash flow. Borrowings on the new facility are
available to meet working capital needs and to fund strategic
acquisitions and the periodic repurchases of shares when deemed
appropriate. The Company had no outstanding borrowings under
this facility at December 31, 2003.

The Company also has an unsecured revolving credit facility that
it uses to finance its customers’ shortfalls in the daily funding
requirements associated with the Company's credit and debit
card settlement operations (Note 2). Upon renewal of this 364-
day facllity in June 2003, the Company lowered the total available
borrowing amount from $130 million to $10C million. Outstanding
borrowings on this credit facility are classified as part of the
Company’s settlement payables in the consolidated balance
sheets. There were no amounts outstanding under this facility

at December 31, 2003 or 2002.

Notes Payable. As described in Note 2, the Company consoli-
dated its St. Petersburg, Florida, synthetic lease on December 31,
2003, in accordance with certain provisions of FIN 46. As a
component of this consolidation, the Company recorded long-
term notes payable of $22.4 million, which are due at the expiration
of the synthetic lease in May 2009. These notes currently bear
interest at an annual rate of LIBOR plus 47.5 basis points.

Capital Lease Obligations. In July 2003, the Company entered
into a capital lease agreement. Under the terms of the agreement,
the Company can lease various types of computer equipment
under a pre-arranged pricing schedule with a four-year lease term.
Approximately $0.6 million was outstanding under this agreement
at December 31, 2003. Total assets leased under this agreement
totaled $0.6 million at December 31, 2003.




Future maturities of capital lease obligations are as follows as of
December 31, 2003 (in thousands);

2004 $ 185
2005 179
2006 179
2007 132

675
Less amounts representing interest (60)
Present value of minimum lease payments $ 615

NOTE 7 - INCOME TAXES

Prior to the Distribution Date, the Company was included in the
consolidated federal income tax return of Equifax. Tax provisions
were settled through the intercompany accounts and Equifax
made income tax payments on behalf of the Company. The
Company’s provision for income taxes in the consclidated
statements of income reflects federal, state, and foreign income
taxes for periods through June 30, 2001 calculated using the
separate return basis. All income tax amounts related to periods
prior to the Distribution Date have been settled with Equifax.
Future adjustments, if any, to such pericds will be settled in
accordance with the Tax Sharing and Indemnification Agreement.

During 2002, the Company determined that its investments in
certain foreign subsidiaries are permanently invested and will not
be repatriated to the U.S. in the foreseeable future. Future U.S.

tax consequences on the undistributed earnings of these
subsidiaries are no longer considered in the tax provision calcula-
tion in accordance with APB Opinion No. 23. At December 31,
20083, there are approximately $24.1 million of undistributed net
earnings for which no additional U.S. tax is provided.

The provision for income taxes before cumulative effect of a
change in accounting principle consists of the following:

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Current:
Federal $ 30,553 $ 37,580 $ 42,187
State 3,925 3,841 6,138
Foreign 5,513 7,882 5,108
39,991 49,403 53,430
Deferred:
Federal 16,127 5,662 1,928
State” 1,119 1,137 278
Foreign (2,185) (238) 640

15,061 6,561 2,846

$ 55052 $ 55964 $ 56,276

The provision for income taxes is based on pre-tax income before
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle as follows:

{In thousands) 2003 2002 2001
United States $150,770 $129,131 $ 133,552
Foreign (1,981) 16,817 10,745

$148,789 $ 145948 § 144,297

The provision for income taxes is reconciled with the U.S. federal statutory rate as follows:

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2001
Provision calculated at federal statutory rate $ 52,076 35.0% $ 51,082 35.0% $ 50,504 35.0%
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit 3,278 22 3,301 23 4,170 2.9
Foreign tax on U.S. income 367 0.3 3,849 26 1,596 1.1
Foreign tax credit, current and deferred —_ — (2,418) (1.7) (1,596) 1.1
Gooawill —_ -—_ — — 1,252 0.9
Research credits {308) (0.2) — — — —
Other {361) (0.3} 150 0.1 350 0.2

$ 55,052 37.0% $ 55964 38.3% $ 56,278 39.0%
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The Company records deferred income taxes using enacted tax
laws and rates for the|years in which the taxes are expected to be
paid. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recorded based

on the differences between the financial reporting and income tax

bases of assets and liabilities.

Components of the Company's deferred income tax assets and
liabilities at December; 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:
i

{In thousands) | 2003 2002
Deferred income tax as%ets:
Reserves and accrued expenses $ 4485 § 4,990
Net operating loss carryforwards 2,445 2,744
Depreciation } 1,551 —_
Deferred income | 992 . 4,041
Other 3,471 2,587
12,944 14,362
Deferred income tax liabilities:
Intangibles and othef assets (34,718)  (22,023)
Employee compenselltion and
benefit plans ‘ (2,311) (4,503)
Claims recoverable a{‘nd payable, net (5,215) (2,822)
Depreciation ‘ — (843)
Undistributed earnings of certain
foreign subsidiaries (1,271) (1,271)
Other 1 (5,572) {5,887)
\ {49,087) (37,349)
Net deferred income tax liability $ (36,143) $ (22,987)
Current deferred tax asset (included
in other current asse‘ts) $ 19833 $§ 5570
Long-term deferred taxi asset
(included in other assets) 6,691 4,244
Current deferred tax liability
(included in accrued|taxes) (828) —
Long-term deferred tax liability (43,939) (32,801
$ (36,143) 3 (22,987)

The deferred tax asset for net operating loss carryforwards of

$2.4 million and $2.7 ‘mi!lion as of December 31, 2003 and 2002,

|
respectively, relate to the Company’s card processing business in

the U.K. These net op‘erating losses were generated in years prior
to 2002 and have an indefinite carryover period. Utilization of
these net operating Io:sses is limited to profits generated by the

card processing oper%tions.

r

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

NOTE 8 - SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Equifax Equity Investment. Equifax’s equity investment included
the original investments in the Company, accumulated income of
the Company through the Distribution Date, and the dividend to
Equifax arising from the forgiveness of the net intercompany
receivable due from Equifax reflecting transactions described

in Note 5.

Treasury Stock. In August 2003, the Company’s Board of
Directors increased the Company’s remaining share repurchase
authority to $100 million. During 2003, the Company repurchased
1.7 million shares of its common stock through open market
transactions at an aggregate cost of $49.6 million. Additionally,
during the third quarter of 2003, the Company repurchased

0.9 million shares through a private transaction at an aggregate
cost of $24.0 million. Combined with approximately 3.4 millicn and
0.1 million shares the Company repurchased in 2002 and 2001,
respectively, for $79.6 million and $2.4 million, respectively, the
Company has repurchased a total of approximately 6.1 million
shares, leaving approximately $40.1 million authorized for future
share repurchases as of December 31, 2003. During 2003, 2002,
and 2001, the Company reissued approximately 0.5 millicon,

0.3 million, and 0.1 million treasury shares, respectively, in
connection with employee stock option exercises and restricted
stock awards.

Rights Plan. In June 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors
adopted a Shareholder Rights Plan (the “Rights Plan”). The Rights
Plan contains provisions to protect the Company’s shareholders in
the event of an unsolicited offer to acquire the Company, including
offers that do not treat all shareholders equally, the acquisition in
the open market of shares constituting control without offering fair
value to all shareholders, and other coercive, unfair, or inadequate
takeover bids and practices that could impair the ability of the
Board of Directors to represent shareholders' interests fully.
Pursuant to the Rights Plan, the Board of Directors declared

a dividend of one Share Purchase Right (a “Right”) for each
outstanding share of the Company’s commoen stock, with
distribution to be made to shareholders of record as of July 6,
2001. The Rights, which will expire on July 6, 2011, initially will

be represented by, and traded together with, the Company'’s
common stock. The Rights are not currently exercisable and do
not become exercisable unless certain triggering events occur.
Among the triggering events is the acquisition of 20 percent or
more of the Company’s common stock by a person or group

of afflliated or associated persons. Unless previously redeemed,




upon the occurrence of one of the specified triggering events,
each Right that is not held by the 20 percent or more shareholder
will entitle its holder to purchase one share of common stock or,
under certain circumstances, additional shares of common stock
at a discounted price.

Stock Options. Historically, the Company participated in
Equifax’s stock option plans, which provided qualified and
nonqgualified stock options to officers and employees at exercise
prices not less than market value on the date of grant. In connec-
tion with the Distribution, stock options under these plans held
by employees of the Company that were not exercised prior

to the Distribution Date were replaced with options of Certegy.

be granted to officers and employees at exercise prices not less
than market value on the date of grant. Generally, options vest
over a three- or four-year period and are exercisable for ten years
from the date of grant. Additionally, the Company adopted the
Certegy Inc. Non-Employee Director Stock Option Plan (the
“Director Stock Plan”), pursuant to which 200,000 shares of stock
are available for grant to non-employee directors in the form of
stock options. At December 31, 2003, there were approximately
1.7 million and 164,000 shares available for future option grants
and restricted stock awards under the Employee Stock Plan and
the Director Stock Plan, respectively. The following is a summary
of the stock option activity during 2003, 2002, and 2001:

In accordance with the provisions of FIN 44, "Accounting for V\A/\eviggge: -
Certain Transactions Involving Stock Compensation” (“FIN 44™), Exercise
Equifax stock options were replaced with Certegy stock options (Options in thousands) Options Price
in amounts and at exercise prices intended to preserve the Balance, January 1, 2001 -~ 8 -
economic benefit of the Equifax stock options at such time. Replacement options 3.390 21.62
Accordingly, no compensation expense resulted from the Granted (at market price) 449 28.57
replacement of the options. The exercise price of the replace- Cancelled (66) 21.60
ment options ranges from $5.79-$31.52. Exercised (184) 22.58
Balance, December 31, 2001 3599 $ 2247
In June 2001, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted the Granted (at market price) 1,547 33.38
Certegy Inc. Stock Incentive Plan {the “Employee Stock Plan”), Cancelled (74) 2535
pursuant to which 6.6 million shares of authorized but unissued Exercised 703) 52 55
common stock were reserved. Under the provisions of the Balance, December 312002 4360 S 2626
Employee Stock Plan, the number of shares available for grant Granted (at market price) ) 639 25.58
is increased each January through 2008 based on the number Gancelled (196) 29.99
of common shares issued and outstanding. The Employee Stock Exercised (304) 18.89
Plan provides that qualified and nonqualified stock options may Balance, December 31, 2003 4508 $ 2649
Exercisable at December 31, 2003 3,018 $ 2530

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2003 {options in thousands):

Options
Qutstanding

Options
Exercisable

Weighted-Average

Remaining Contractual Weighted-Average Welighted-Average

Range of Exercise Prices Options Life in Years Exercise Price Options Exercise Price
$8.73-$17.55 531 5.24 $ 16.50 531 $ 1650
$18.77-319.94 669 6.56 $ 19.25 541 $ 19833
$20.45-823.72 586 6.46 $ 2328 491 $ 23.19
$24.54-%25.16 525 8.92 $ 24.83 a1 $ 2455
$26.37-$28.50 582 7.23 $ 2797 418 $ 2701
$28.77-832.16 359 6.05 $ 30.18 270 $ 30.16
$32.51-$33.84 58 7.91 $ 33.10 23 $ 3314
$34.96 1,172 8.12 $ 34.96 637 $ 34.96
$42.75-$43.50 25 4.40 $ 43.35 15 $ 4350
4,508 712 $ 26.49 3,018 $ 25.30
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The weighted-avere‘lge grant-date fair value per share of options
granted in 2003 unger the Employee Stock Plan and the Director
Stock Plan is 39.07‘\ and $8.90, respectively. The weighted-

lfair value per share of options granted in 2002
under the Employeé Stock Plan and the Director Stock Plan is
$12.62 and $1 5.241‘ respectively. The weighted-average grant-
date fair values per §hare of replacement options and options
granted in 2001 under the Employee Stock Plan and the Director
Stock Plan are $1 8.‘;29 and $13.02, respectively. The fair value

of all options is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-

Scholes option-pricing model based on the following

average grant-date

weighted-average assumptions:

! 2003 2002 2001
Dividend yield | 0.6% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected volatilty | 40.0% 40.0% 43.8%
Risk-free interest rate 3.1% 3.1% 4.4%
Expected life in yearsi 4.8 4.7 4.8

i
Pro Forma Inform:ation. In accordance with the provisions of

SFAS 1283, the Company has elected to apply APB Opinion No.
25 and related interéretations in accounting for its stock option
plans. Accordingly, tjhe Company does not recognize compensa-
tion cost in connectibn with its stock option plans. If the Company
had elected to recoénize compensation cost for these plans
based on the fair val:ue at the replacement date and grant dates
as prescribed by SFAS 123, net income and earnings per share
would have been rec‘;ﬁuced to the following pro forma amounts:

(In thousands, except

per share amounts) 2003 2002 2001
Net income:
As reported $ 92402 $ 89,984 $ 87,076
Pro forma } $ 84,706 $ 79640 $ 76,471
Earnings per share (basic):
As reported $ 142 $ 132 § 1.27
Pro forma i $ 130 $ 117 $§ 112
Earnings per share (diluted):
As reported $ 140 $ 130 $ 1.26
Pro forma $ 129 § 115 $ 1.11
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Long-Term Incentive Plan and Restricted Stock Awards.
Upon the Distribution, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted
the Certegy Inc. Key Management Long-Term Incentive Plan for
officers and other key employees. This plan, in conjunction with
the Employee Stock Plan, provides for cash and restricted stock
awards. Cash awards are recorded as a liability based on the
estimated cash payout under the award, while restricted stock
grants are recorded as deferred compensation, a reduction of
shareholders’ equity, based on the guoted fair market value of the
Company'’s stock on the date of grant. Compensation expense
associated with these awards can fluctuate each vear in the case
of performance-based awards, based on the likelihood that the
performance criteria will be met. During 2003, 2002, and 2001,
the Company granted 209,877 shares, 287,000 shares, and
133,000 shares of restricted stock to officers and key employees
under the Employee Stock Plan. The shares become fully

vested at the end of vesting periods, which range from 12 to

72 months. During 2002, approximately 22,800 restricted shares
were cancelled. Compensation expense for these plans was

$4.6 million in 2003, $4.5 million in 2002, and $1.5 million in 2001.

Dividends. In August 2003, the Company’s Board of Directors
approved an initial quarterly common stock dividend of $0.05 per
share, or $3.2 million, which was paid on October 15, 2003, to
shareholders of record as of the close of business on October 1,
2003. Additionally, in November 2003, the Company’s Board

of Directors approved a quarterly common stock dividend of
$0.05 per share, or $3.2 million, which was paid on January 15,
2004, to shareholders of record as of the close of business on
January 1, 2004.

NOTE 9 - EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

In December 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 132

{revised 2003), “Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and
Other Postretirement Benefits.” This statement revises employers’
disclosures about pension and other postretirement benefit plans.
It does not change the measurement or recognition of these plans.

Prior to the Distribution, the Company participated in the Equifax
employee benefit plans and was allocated a portion of the plans’
costs based on an estimate of the proportion of expense related
to the Company. In the opinion of management, the expenses
were allocated on a reasonable basis. Effective on the Distribution
Date, the Company established its own plans, which provide
benefits similar to those benefits provided under Equifax’s plans.




The Company uses a measurement date of December 31 for
the majority of its retirement and postretirement benefit plans.

Retirement Plan. The Equifax noncontributory qualified retire-
ment plan covered most U.S. salaried employees. Benefits were
primarily a function of salary and years of service. The Equifax
plan provisions and funding met the requirements of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA”), as amended.
Total pension income allocated to the Company and included in
the consolidated statements of income was $2.1 million for the
period from January 1, 2001, through the Distribution Date.

The components of pension income, other than service costs
which were allocated directly, were allocated to the Company in
proportion to total payroll costs. Effective on the Distribution Date,
the Company established a noncontributory qualified retirement
plan (the “Retirement Plan”) and Equifax transferred to this plan a
proportionate share of assets allocable to the accrued benefits for
the Company's participants under the Equifax plan.

Supplemental Retirement Plan. in November 2003, the
Company established a supplemental executive retirement plan
("SERP") for certain key officers. The plan, which is unfunded,
provides supplemental retirement payments based on salary

and years of service. In connection with the establishment of this
plan, the Company recorded a $4.4 million intangible asset and
additional minimum liability, representing the unfunded accumu-
lated benefit obligation at inception of the plan. These amounts are
included in other assets and other long-term liabilities, respectively,
in the consolidated balance shest.

Postretirement Benefit Plan. The Equifax unfunded healthcare
and life insurance benefit plan covered eligible retired employees.
Substantially all U.S. employees became eligible for these benefits
if they reached normal retirement age while working for Equifax
and satisfied certain years of service reguirements. Equifax
accrued the cost of providing these benefits over the active
service period of the employes. Expenses of $0.4 million for the
period from January 1, 2001, through the Distribution Date were
allocated to the Company in proportion to total payroll costs.
Effective on the Distribution Date, the Company established its
own unfunded healthcare and life insurance benefit plan with
substantially the same terms as the Equifax plan, and Equifax
transferred to this plan a proportionate share of the accrued
liability for the Company’s participants under the Equifax plan.

A reconciliation of the changes in the benefit obligations for the
years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:

Postretirement
Retirement Plans Benefit Plan

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2003 2002

Benefit obligations at

beginning of year $32,108 $27963 $ 1,316 $ 1,923
SERP benefit obligation

at inception 5,849 — — —
Service cost 3,191 2,595 184 336
Interest cost 2,431 1,855 a2 144
Plan amendments 248 — _ —
Actuarial loss {(gain) 3,437 (232) 49 (1,088)
Benefits paid (242) (73) —_ —
Benefit obligations

at end of year $47,022 $32,108 $ 1,640 3 1,315
Accumulated benefit

obligations at end

of year $39,490 $27,192 ¢ 1,640 3 1,315

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit
obligations at December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Postretirement
Retirement Plans Benefit Plan

2003 2002 2003 2002

Discount rate 6.75% 7.00% 6.75% 7.00%
Rate of compensation

increase for

Retirement Plan 4,25% 4.25% N/A N/A

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the benefit
obligations under the Company's SERP are the same as the
Retirement Plan assumptions, with the exception of the rate of
compensation increase, which was 5.0% at December 31, 2003.

A reconciliation of the changes in the fair value of plan assets for
the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:

Retirement Plans

(In thousands) 2003 2002
Fair value of plan assets at beginning
of year $ 39,137 $45,045

Actual return on plan assets 9,600 (5,835)
Benefits paid (242) {73)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $48,495 $30,137

Benefits paid in the above table include only those amounts paid
directly from plan assets.
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The asset allocation for the Retirement Plan at the end of 2003
and 2002 and the target allocation for 2004, by asset category,

are as follows: }

Percentage of Plan

Target Assets at
Allocation Measurement Date
2004 2003 2002

Asset Category:

Equity securities 70% 71% 68%
Debt securities 30% 29% 32%
Total 100% 100% 100%

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

A reconciliation of the changes in the funded status for the years
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 is as follows:

Postretirement
Retirement Plans Benefit Plan

(In thousands) 2003 2002 2003 2002

Funded status $ 1,473 $ 7,029 $ (1,640) $ (1,315)

Unrecognized
actuarial loss {(gain) 11,838 13,686 (1,048) (1,177)

Unrecognized prior
service cost 5,953 37) (313) (483)

Net amount recognized $ 19,264 $20,678 $ (3,001) $ (2,975

The Company’s pension plan assets are invested in a manner
|

consistent with the fiduciary standards of ERISA. Plan investments

are made with the safeguards and diversity to which a prudent

investor would adhere and all transactions undertaken are for

the sole benefit of plan participants and their beneficiaries.
|

The Company’s inve#tment objective is to obtain the highest
possible return comn;'lensurate with the level of assumed risk.
Fund performances are compared to benchmarks including the
S&P 500 Index, S&P|MidCap Index, Russell 2000 Index, MSCI
EAFE Index, and LLehman Brothers Aggregate Bond Index. The
Company's Investmeint Committee meets on a quarterly basis to
review plan investmehts.

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets at
December 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Postretirement

Retirement Plans Benefit Plan
(In thousands) 2003 2002 2003 2002
Prepaid pension
cost (Note 2) $19,428 $20,678 $ - § —
Accrued benefit cost (4,520) — (3,001) (2,875)

Intangible asset (Note 2) 4,356 — - —

Net amount recognized $ 19,264 $ 20,678 $ (3,001) $ (2,975)

Accrued benefit costs for the SERP and postretirement benefit
plans are included in other fong-term liabilities in the consolidated
balance sheets.




Net periodic benefit cost for the plans includes the following components for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, and for the
period from the Distribution Date through December 31, 2001:

Retirement Plans Postretirement Benefit Plan

(in thousands) 2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001

Service cost $ 3,191 $ 2595 $ 1,175 $ 184 $ 336 $ 208
Interest cost 2,431 1,855 809 92 144 81

Expected return on plan assets (4,316) 4,271) (1,884) — — —
Recognized actuarial loss - — — — —_ 8
Amortization of net (gain) or loss — — — (80) — —
Amortization of prior service cost 108 18 44 (170) (215) (171)

Net periodic benefit cost $ 1,414 $ 197 $ 144 $ 26 $ 265 3 126

The weighted-averaged assumptions used to determine periodic benefit cost for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001
are as follows:

Retirement Plans Postretirement Benefit Plan

2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
Discount rate 7.00% 7.50% 7.25% 7.00% 7.50% 7.25%
Expected long-term return on plan assets 8.50% 8.50% 9.00% N/A N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase for Retirement Plan 4.25% 4.25% 4.25% N/A N/A N/A

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the pericdic
benefit cost under the Company’s SERP are the same as the
Retirement Plan assumptions, with the exception of the rate of
compensation increase and the discount rate, which were 5.0%
and 6.75%, respectively, for the period from inception through
December 31, 2003.

For measurement purposes, an 11 percent annual rate of
increase in the per capita cost of covered health care benefits
was assumed for 2004. The rate was assumed to decrease
gradually to 5 percent for 2010 and remain at that level thereafter.
A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost
trend rates would have had an immaterial effect on the amounts
reported for the postretirement benefit plan.

The expected long-term rate of return on plan assets was
made considering the Retirement Plan’s asset mix, historical
returns on equity securities, and expected yields to maturity
for debt securities.

The SERP has an accumulated benefit obligation in excess

of plan assets. The aggregate projected benefit obligation and
accumulated benefit obligation are $5.9 million and $4.5 million,
respectively, as of December 31, 2003. The plan is unfunded
and, therefore, has no plan assets.

For calculating retirement plan income, a market-related value of
assets is used. The market-related value of assets recognizes the
difference between actual returns and expected returns over five
years at a rate of 20 percent per year.

While the asset return and interest rate environment have negatively
impacted the funded status of the Retirement Plan, the Company
does not currently have minimum funding requirements, as

set forth in ERISA and federal tax laws. The Company did not
contribute to the plans in 2003 and does not anticipate contribut-
ing to the plans in 2004,

On December 8, 2003, the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improve-
ment and Modernization Act of 2003 (“the Act”) was enacted.

In accordance with the FASB Staff Position No. FAS 106-1, any
measures of the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation or
net periodic postretirement benefit cost in the financial statements
or accompanying notes do not reflect the effects of the Act on
the plan. Specific authoritative guidance on the accounting for the
federal subsidy is pending and that guidance, when issued, could
require the Company to change previously reported information.
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Foreign Retirement Plans. The Company also maintains
various defined contri‘bution plans for certain employees in its

international locations. Expenses for these plans for the years
ended December 31,/2003, 2002, and 2001 were not material.

Employee Retirement Savings Plan. The Equifax retirement
savings plan provide& for annual contributions, within specified
ranges, determined a:t the discretion of the Equifax Board of
Directors, for the benefit of eligible employees in the form of cash
or shares of Equifax’s|common stock. Effective on the Distribution
Date, the Company established its own employee retirement
savings plan, with substantially the same terms as the Equifax plan
and annual contributigns made in the form of Certegy's common
stock. The Company"s expense for this plan was $1.5 million in
2003, $1.4 million in 2002, and $1.1 million in 2001.

NOTE 10 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases. The Company's operating leases involve principally
office space and offic‘e equipment. Rental expense relating to
these leases was $11.1 million in 2008, $9.4 mitlion in 2002,

and $9.1 million in 2001, Additionally, in July 2003, the Company
entered into a capital lease agreement for various types of

computer equipment!
\

Future minimum payrﬁent obligations for noncancelable operating
leases exceeding one‘ year are as follows as of December 31,
2003 (in thousands): !

|

2004 | $ 10,770
2005 9,458
2006 7,620
2007 5,795
2008 4,974
Thereafter 7,908

$ 46,525

' Notés to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

Data Processing Services Agreements. The Company

has agreements with IBM and Proceda, which expire between
2007 and 2013, for portions of its computer data processing
operations and related functions. The Company’s estimated
aggregate contractual obligation remaining under these agree-
ments is approximately $253.7 million as of December 31, 2003.
However, this amount could be more or less depending on various
factors such as the inflation rate, the introduction of significant
new technologies, or changes in the Company’s data processing
needs as a result of acquisitions or divestitures. Under certain
circumstances, such as a change in control of the Company or for
the Company’s convenience, the Company may terminate these
agreements. However, the agreements provide that the Company
must pay a termination charge in the event of such a termination.

Synthetic Leases. The adoption of FIN 45 on January 1, 2003
as it relates to the residual value guarantees under the Company’s
synthetic lease agreements did not have a material impact on the
Company'’s financial results.

As discussed in Notes 2 and 6, the Company is the tenant

of certain real property located in St. Petersburg, Flerida. The
aggregate value of the building and land at that site when the
Company entered into this arrangement was $23.2 million.
Subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, the Company
has the option to acquire this leased property at its original cost,
or to direct the sale of this facility to a third party. The Company
has provided a guarantee to the lessor that the proceeds from
a sale of the facility to a third party will equal or exceed a certain
percentage of the original fair market value of the leased property.
The Company’s maximum exposure under this guarantee is
approximately $18.1 million.

Effective December 31, 2003, the Company began consolidating
this lease arrangement intc its consolidated financial statements
in accordance with certain provisions of FIN 46,

In 2003, the Company amended its synthetic lease arrangement
with respect to its facilities in Madison, Wisconsin, which expires
in 2009. The aggregate value of the building and land at that
site when the Company entered into this arrangement was
$10.4 million. Subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions,




the Company has the option to acquire this leased property at
its original cost, or to direct the sale of this facility to a third party.
The Company has provided a guarantee to the lessor that the
proceeds from a sale of the facility to a third party will equal or
exceed a certain percentage of the original fair market value of
the leased property. The Company’s maximum exposure under
this guarantee is approximately $8.3 million.

Based on current market conditions, the Company does not
expect to be required to make payments under these residual
value guarantees,

The Company has entered into an interest rate swap arrangement
to fix the variable interest rate on the Madison, Wisconsin, lease
obligation (Note 2).

Change in Control Agreements. The Company has agreements
with certain of its officers, which provide certain severance pay
and benefits in the event of a termination of the officer's employ-
ment under certain circumstances following a “change in control”
of the Company. “Change in contro!” is defined as the accumula-
tion by any person, entity, or group of 20 percent or more of the
combined voting power of the Company’s voting stock or the
occurrence of certain other specified events. In the event of a
"change in control,” vesting periods and payouts under the Stock
Incentive Plan and the Long-Term Incentive Plan are accelerated.

Litigation. A number of lawsuits seeking damages are brought
against the Company each year in the ordinary course of busi-
ness. In the opinion of management, the ultimate resolution of
these matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a
materially adverse effect on the Company's financial position,
liguidity, or results of operations. The Company provides for
estimated legal fees and settiements relating to pending lawsuits.

A class action lawsuit entitled Gary and Nancy Ballard, et. al.

v. Equifax Check Services, Inc. {(now known as Certegy Check
Services, Inc.) was filed against the Company in August 1996 in
the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of California. This
lawsuit was based on a claim that, during the period August 1992
through December 31, 1896, the Company improperly assessed
a service charge on unpaid checks, which allegedly viclated
provisions of the Federal Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and
California’s Unfair Business Practices Act. The action sought,
among other remedies, a refund of all service charges collected
from California consumers during this period, prejudgment

interest, statutory damages under the Fair Debt Collection
Practices Act, and attorneys’ fees. These amounts in the aggre-
gate could have exceeded $18 million if the plaintiffs had prevailed
in the case. In November 2002, the Company entered into a
Memorandum of Understanding with the plaintiffs providing for a
settlement whereby the Company agreed to pay $3.975 million,
net of amounts covered under a Letter of Agreement with its
insurance carriers, to the plaintiffs in exchange for a full and final
release of all claims asserted. On March 18, 2003, the U.S. District
Court for the Eastern District of California signed an order
preliminarily approving the settlement of the class action lawsuit,
including the plan of distribution and the class notice. As required,
the Company remitted $3.975 miillion, which was accrued in the
third quarter of 2002, in April 2003 to a trust for distribution to the
plaintiffs. On July 21, 2003, the U.S. District Court granted final
approval of the settlement and fully released Certegy from all
claims in connection with this lawsuit.
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.

NOTE 11 - QUAR'I:]'ERLY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION (UNAUDITED)
Quarterly revenues and operating income by reportable segment (Note 12) and other summarized quarterly financial data for 2003 and
2002 are as follows (in thousands, except per share amounts):

Firsti Second" Third Fourth
2003
Revenues:
Card Services $ 157,176 $ 160,316 $ 164,048 $ 162,923
Check Services 82,993 87,076 91,743 109,189
$ 240,169 $ 247,392 $ 255,791 $ 272,112

Operating income:
Card Services $ 19,958 $ 31,867 $ 36,630 $ 39,905

i
Check Services ‘] 5,974 8,999 11,862 17,736
|

25,932 40,866 48,482 57,641
General corporate expense (4,976) (3,464) (4,959) (5,122)
$ 20,956 $ 37,402 $ 43,523 $ 52,519
income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ 12,192 $ 22,968 $ 26,325 $ 32,252
Cumulative effect of a phange in accounting principle, net of $832 income
tax benefit — -_ — (1,335)
Net income $ 12,192 $ 22,968 $ 26,325 $ 30,917

|

\

;
Basic earnings per she;xre:

Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle $ 019 $ 035 $ 040 $ 050

Net income $ 019 $ 035 $ 040 $ 048
Diluted earnings per share:

Income before cumlilative effect of a change in accounting principle $ 0.8 $ 035 $ 040 $ 050

Net income $ o018 $ 035 $ 040 $ 048
Dividends declared per common share $ f— $ — $ 005 $ 005
(1) The first quarter and second quarter of 2003 include other charges of $12.6 million and ${0.4) million, respectively. See Note 3 for further information on these

charges. !

First Second Thirg® Fourth®@

2002
Revenues:

Card Services $ 157,219 $ 172,512 $ 167,609 3 163,563
Check Services 77,623 82,857 86,897 99,688

$ 234,842 $ 255,369 $ 254,506 $ 263,251

Operating income:

Card Services $ 24,644 $ 31,146 $ 34,666 $ 38,920

Check Services 7,336 11,226 8,110 15,211

31,980 42,372 42,776 54,131

General corporate expense (4,199) (4,054) (5,485) (5,572)

$§ 27,781 $ 38318 $ 37,291 $ 48,559

Net income $ 16,047 $ 22944 $ 21983 $ 29,010
Net income per common share:

Basic | $ 028 $ 0838 $ 032 $ 044

Diluted $ 0.23 $ 0.33 $ 0.32 $ 0.44

(2) The third quarter and fourth quarter of 2002 include other charges of $9.3 million and $2.9 million, respectively. See Note 3 for further information on
these charges. |

i
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NOTE 12 - SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information has been prepared in accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information” (“SFAS 131"). The Company has two segments: credit and debit card processing (Card Services) and check risk manage-
ment services (Check Services). Segments were determined based on products and services provided by each segment (Note 1) and
represent components of the Company about which separate internal financial information is maintained and evaluated by senior
management in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing perfermance. The accounting policies of the segments are the
same as those described in the Company’s summary of significant accounting policies (Note 2). The Company evaluates the segment
performance based on its operating income. Intersegment sales and transfers, which are not material, have been eliminated.

Segment information for 2003, 2002, and 2001 is as follows (dollars in thousands):

2003 2002 2001
Amount % Amount % Amount %
Revenues:
Card Services $ 644,463 63% $ 660,903 66% $ 631,665 67%
Check Services 371,001 37 347,085 34 304,306 33
$1,015,464 100% $1,007,968 100% $ 935,971 100%
Operating income:
Card Services $ 128,360 74% $ 129,376 76% $ 119,767 73%
Check Services 44,561 26 41,883 24 43,502 27
172,921 100% 171,259 100% 163,269 100%
General corporate expense (18,521) (19,310) (11,850)
$ 154,400 $ 151,849 $ 151,419
Total assets at December 31:
Card Services $ 511,118 65% $ 461,347 66% $ 511,149 70%
Check Services 215,529 28 202,681 29 172,186 23
Corporate 58,400 7 38,113 5 52,868 7
$ 785,047 100% $ 702,141 100% $ 736,203 100%
Depreciation and amortization:
Card Services $ 32220 7% $ 31,886 82% $ 38,789 85%
Check Services 8,688 21 6,572 17 6,811 15
Corporate 1,122 2 592 1 77 —
$ 42,030 100% $ 39,050 100% $ 45677 100%
Capital expenditures:
Card Services $ 29,517 67% $ 36,746 75% $ 36,982 75%
Check Services 13,849 32 8,700 18 10,139 21
Corporate 589 1 3,515 7 2,228 4
S 43,955 100% $ 48,961 100% $ 49,349 100%
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements continued

|
Financial information t‘y geographic area is as follows (dollars in thousands):
2003 2002 2001
Amount % Amount % Amount %
Revenues (based on location of customer):
United States $ 847,853 84% $ 824,607 82% $ 767,031 82%
United Kingdom | 89,477 9 79,040 8 62,579 7
Brazil 24,889 2 61,033 6 70,046 7
Other 53,245 5 43,288 4 36,315 4
$1,015,464 100% $1,007,968 100% $ 935971 100%
Long-lived assets at December 31:
United States ‘1 $ 272,876 59% $ 214,285 55% $ 200,924 49%
United Kingdom } 59,953 13 61,098 16 54,481 13
Brazil 105,073 23 89,114 23 133,548 32
Other 25,517 5 25,644 6 25,714 S}
$ 463,419 100% $ 390,141 100% $ 414,667 100%

|
\
|
Revenues from extern‘al customers by product and service offering are as follows (dollars in thousands):

2003 2002 2001
Amount % Amount % Amount %
Card Issuer Services | $ 462,522 45% $ 448,496 45% $ 434,300 46%
Check Services 371,001 37 347,065 34 304,306 33
Merchant Processing Services 170,348 17 202,906 20 187,550 20
Card Issuer Software and Support 11,593 1 9,501 1 9,815 1
‘ $1,015,464 100% $1,007,968 100% $ 935,971 100%

]
|
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| " Report of Ernst & Young LLP,
| <. Independent Auditors
1 3 I

O

To Certegy Inc..

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Certegy Inc. as of December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related
consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders' equity, and cash fiows for the years then ended. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based

on our audits. The financial statements of Certegy inc. for the year ended December 31, 2001 were audited by other auditors who have
ceased operations and whose report dated February 8, 2002 expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements before the reclassifi-
cation adjustments described in Note 2 and the transitional disclosures required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” described in Note 2.

As discussed above, the financial statements of Certegy Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2001 were audited by other auditors who
have ceased operations. As described in Note 2, the Company reclassified reimbursements received for out-of-pocket expenses from
operating expenses to revenues as required by Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 01-14, “Income Statement Characterization of
Reimbursements Received for ‘Out-of-Pocket’ Expenses Incurred.” We audited the adjustment that was applied to reclassify the balances
reflected in the 2001 financial statements. Our procedures included () agreeing the reclassification amounts to the Company’s underlying
accounting records, and (b) testing the mathematical accuracy of the reclassification adjustment. In our opinion, such adjustment is appro-
priate and has been properly applied. As described in Note 2, these financial statements have been revised to include the transitional
disclosures required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which was
adopted by the Company as of January 1, 2002. Our audit procedures with respect to the disclosures in Note 2 included (a) agreeing

the previously reported net income to the previously issued financial statements and the adjustments to reported net income representing
amortization expense (including any related tax effects) recognized in those periods related to goodwill that is no longer being amortized to
the Company’s underlying records obtained from management, and (b) testing the mathematical accuracy of the reconciliation of adjusted
net income to reported net income, and the related earnings-per-share amount. In our opinion, the disclosures for 2001 in Note 2 are
appropriate. However, we were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the 2001 financial statements of the Company
other than with respect to such adjustment and disclosures and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or any other form of assur-
ance on the 2001 financial statements taken as a whole.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also
includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of
Certegy Inc. at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended
in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for a variable
interest entity upon adoption of certain provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board Financial Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation
of Variable Interest Entities,” on December 31, 2003. Also as discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, in 2002 the
Company ceased amortization of goodwill in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and
Other Intangible Assets.”

é/kutf MLLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 2, 2004
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Report of /Arthur Andersen LLP,
Independemt Public Accountants

i
|
|

To Certegy Inc.:

We have audited the a\coompanying consolidated balance sheets of Certegy Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31,
2001 and 2000 and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three
years in the period enjded December 31, 2001, These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Qur

responsibility is to exdress an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that

|
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.

(

An audit includes exar“nining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also

includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement pr(‘esentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the finéncia! statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Certegy Inc.
and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 2001 and 2000 and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years
in the period ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

@R.AW cLe

J
Atlanta, Georgia \
February 8, 2002 ;
I
|

THIS IS A COPY OF THE REPORT PREVIOUSLY ISSUED BY ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP AND HAS NOT BEEN REISSUED BY
ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP.
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The following Non-GAAP Consolidated Statement of Income for the year ended December 31, 2001 is presented for informational
purposes and is reconciled to the Consolidated Statement of Income for the same period prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the U.S. (“GAAP”). Management believes the non-GAAP results are more useful in analyzing the
underlying business by providing a consistent comparison to the Company’s historical operating performance.

NON-GAAP CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2001 (UNAUDITED):

Non-GAAP Adjustments

(In thousands, except per share amounts) ’ GAAP Spin-off" SFAS 1420 Non-GAAP
Revenues $ 935,971 $ — 3 — $ 935,971
Operating expenses:

Costs of services 686,588 2,350 (8,560) 680,378

Selling, general and administrative expenses 97,964 900 -— 98,864

784,552 3,250 (8,580 779,242

Operating income 151,419 (3,250) 8,560 156,729
Other income, net 78 — — 78
Interest expense (7,200) (8,413) — (15,613)
Income before income taxes and minority interests 144,297 (11,663} 8,560 141,194
(Provision) benefit for income taxes (56,2786) 4,549 (1,309) (63.036)
Minority interests in earnings, net of tax (945) — — (945)
Net income $ 87,076 $ (7,114 $ 7251 $ 87,213
Basic:

Earnings per share ' $ 127 $ 1.28

Average shares outstanding 68,317 68,317
Diluted:

Earnings per share $ 1.26 3 1.26

Average shares outstanding 69,063 69,063

A reconciliation of GAAP operating income of the Company’s reportable segments to non-GAAP operating income for the year ended
December 31, 2001 is as follows:

Non-GAAP Adjustments

GAAP Spin-offi® SFAS 1422 Non-GAAP

Operating income:
Card Services $ 119,767 $ — $ 7637 $ 127,404
Check Services 43,502 — 923 44,425
163,269 —_ 8,560 171,829
General corporate expense (11,850) (3,250) — (15,100)

$ 151,419 $ (3250 $ 8560 $ 156,729

(1) Spin-off adjustments include: a) additional operating expenses of $3.2 miflion, which specifically relate to incremental pension expense, insurance costs,
corporate headquarters rent, and stand-alone public company costs for audit, director, and stock exchange fees; b) interest on the $275 million of debt used to
fund a cash payment to Equifax in conjunction with the spin-off, at an annual rate of LIBOR plus 100 basis points (5.76 percent for the six months ended June
30, 2001}, plus amortization of financing costs aver the three-year term of the debt; and c) the income tax benefit resulting from the non-GAAP adjustments
using the Company'’s effective tax rate for the period.

(2) Non-GAAP adjustment to exclude goodwill amortization expense in accordance with SFAS No. 142, “Gooawill and Other Intangible Assets,” as if the standard
had been effective on January 1, 2001.
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Certegy Inc. Corporate Information

Corporate Headquarters
Certegy Inc.

11720 Amber Park Drive
Suite 600

Alpharetta, Georgia 30004
678-867-8000
www.certegy.com

Employees
The Company had 4,985 employees as of
January 31, 2004,

Annual Meeting of Shareholders
The annual meeting of the shareholders of Certegy Inc. will

be held Thursday, May 13, 2004, at 11:00 a.m. Eastern time,

at the Four Seasons Hotel, 75 Fourteenth Street, Atlanta,
Georgia 30309.

Registrar and Transfer Agent

Registered shareholders with questions concerning
the transfer or registration of shares, address changes,
consolidation of duplicate accounts or related matters
should contact:

SunTrust Bank, Atlanta
P.O. Box 4625
Atlanta, Georgia 30302
800-568-3476

or e-mail the Company at:
shareholder@certegy.com

The Company had 7,445 shareholders of record as of
January 31, 2004,

Investor Relations

inquiries from institutional investors, financial analysts,
registered representatives and portfolic managers, and
requests for the Company’s annual report to the Securities
and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K (at no charge)
should be directed to:

Certegy Inc.

Investor Relations

11720 Amber Park Drive
Suite 600

Alpharetta, Georgia 30004
678-867-8000

or via e-mail to investor@certegy.com

Market Price information
Certegy Inc. common stock is traded on the New York

* Stock Exchange under the ticker symbol “CEY.” The high and
. low sales prices per share of the Company’s common stock

and dividends declared in each quarter of 2003 and 2002
were as follows:

High Low Dividend
2003
1st Quarter $ 26.82 $21.10 —
2nd Quarter $ 30.88 $24.22 —
3rd Quarter $ 32.98 $ 25.55 $ 0.05
4th Quarter $ 35.24 $31.15 $ 0.05
2002
1st Quarter $ 41.50 $ 33.20 —
2nd Quarter $ 44.45 $ 35.76 —
3rd Quarter $ 38.12 $16.70 —

4th Quarter $ 26.50 $20.15 —
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